
 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
www . l i n co l ns h ir e i l .go v  

AGENDA 
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

Village Hall – Board Room 
Monday, November 25, 2019 

7:00 p.m. 
 

Reasonable accommodations/auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with 
disabilities to effectively participate in any public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the 

Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need special 
accommodations to attend.  Regular Village Board Meetings will not proceed past 10:30 

p.m. unless there is a consensus of the majority of the Trustees to do so. 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 
 
2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3.0 REPORTS OF OFFICERS           
 3.1 Mayor’s Report 
   
 3.2 Village Clerk’s Report 
 
 3.3   Village Treasurer's Report 
  3.31 Revenues and Expenditures for the Month of October, 2019 

 
 3.4 Village Manager's Report  
 
4.0   PAYMENT OF BILLS 

4.1   Bills Presented for Payment on November 25, 2019 in the amount of 
$502,456.30 

 
5.0  CITIZENS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD (on agenda items only) 
 
6.0  PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
    
7.0  CONSENT AGENDA 

Items on the Consent Agenda will be approved by one motion. If a Trustee wishes to 
discuss any item, it will be pulled from the Consent Agenda and discussed under 
“Unfinished Business”.  
 
7.1 Approval of November 11, 2019 Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes  
 
7.2 Approval of November 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

 
7.3 Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property Commonly Known as 2 Hotz 

Road from R1 Single-Family Resident to E Small Scale Office (Lincolnshire 
Animal Hospital – 420 Half Day Road) 

            
    
  

 



Page 2 
AGENDA - Regular Village Board Meeting  
November 25, 2019 
 

 
7.4 Approval of an Ordinance Granting an Amendment to a Special Use Granting 

Variations for an Animal Clinic (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital – 420 Half Day 
Road) 

 
7.5 Approval of an Ordinance Amending Single-Family Residential Bulk 

Regulations in Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-Family Residence 
Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of the Lincolnshire 
Village Code (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
7.6 Approval of the Fiscal Year 2020 Budget (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
7.7 Approval of Professional Service Agreements as Detailed in the Budget for 

Fiscal Year 2020 (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

7.8 Approval of an Ordinance Levying Taxes for Corporate Purposes of the Village 
of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois for Fiscal Year Beginning the First Day of 
January, 2019 and ending December 31, 2019 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
7.9 Approval of an Ordinance Abating and Reducing Certain Taxes Heretofore 

Levied to Pay Debt Service on Special Service Area (SSA) Bonds of the Village 
of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois (Sedgebrook Special Service Area 
Number 1 Special Tax Bonds) 

 
7.10 Approval of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15 of Title 1- Comprehensive 

Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire Village Code Related to the Establishment of 
Fees and Charges for Service (Water and Sewer Connection Charges and 
Rate)  (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
7.11 Approval of Changes to Police Pension Funding Policy (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
7.12 Approval of the 2020 Calendar and Meeting Schedule (Village of Lincolnshire)  

 
7.13 Approval of a Joint Purchasing Agreement with Morton Salt, Inc. in the Not-

to-Exceed-Amount of $33,325.00, and Compass Minerals America, Inc. in the 
Not-to-Exceed Amount of $28,611.00, for the Purchase of Rock Salt for the 
2019-2020 Winter Season (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

7.14 Approval of a One-Year Supplemental Statement of Work with Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) Consortium Service Provider, Municipal GIS 
Partners (MGP) for Geographic Information Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
8.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

8.1 Planning, Zoning & Land Use 
8.2 Finance and Administration 
8.3 Public Works 
8.4 Police 
8.5 Parks and Recreation 
8.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

  
9.0  REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 
10.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
11.0 NEW BUSINESS 
12.0 ADJOURNMENT 



REVENUE / EXPENSE BUDGET SUMMARY

PERIOD ENDING 10/31/2019
FISCAL YEAR 2019

2018 Year-To-Date 2019 Year-To-Date
Revenue Expense OVER/(UNDER) REVENUE EXPENSE OVER/(UNDER)

GENERAL FUND  
Revenue 10,681,061     10,490,552     
Administration 250,574          272,772          
Finance 273,666          296,692          
Police 2,668,436       2,885,854       
Community & Economic Dev. 875,110          765,521          
Insurance / Common 1,111,275       1,331,204       
PW: Administration 212,388          227,016          
PW: Streets & Storm Water 838,632          949,879          
PW: Forestry & Parks 1,103,909       1,171,178       
PW: Facilities 102,620          150,705          
Debt & Transfers 600,000          700,000          

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 10,681,061$ 8,036,610$   2,644,452$       10,490,552$ 8,750,822$   1,739,730$       

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
Water & Sanitary Sewer Revenue 3,919,047       4,101,980       
Water & Sanitary Sewer Administration 829,028          1,032,539       
Water & Sanitary Sewer Operating 2,867,232       2,998,035       
Water & Sanitary Sewer Improvements 1,132,813       1,747,844       1,550,205       1,370,858       

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUNDS 5,051,859$   5,444,104$   (392,245)$         5,652,185$   5,401,432$   250,753$           

NON-OPERATING FUNDS
Motor Fuel Tax 156,857          175,000          (18,143)              172,095          -                172,095              
Fraud Alcohol Drug Enforcement 7,701             2,746             4,955                  8,927             6,417             2,510                  
Vehicle Maintenance 326,800          390,138          (63,338)              401,425          412,146          (10,721)              
E-911 328,557          283,486          45,072                102,783          115,453          (12,670)              
Park Development 263,549          511,013          (247,463)             783,566          437,375          346,191              
General Capital 24,363           700,166          (675,803)             420,669          679,822          (259,153)             

TOTAL NON-OPERATING FUNDS 1,107,827$   2,062,548$   (954,721)$         1,889,466$   1,651,213$   238,253$           

TRUST FUNDS
Police Pension Fund** 418,629          1,093,600       (674,971)             3,647,209       1,142,715       2,504,494           
Sedgebrook SSA 1,179,234       1,152,055       27,179                1,180,742       1,152,983       27,760                

TOTAL TRUST FUNDS 1,597,863$   2,245,655$   (647,792)$         4,827,952$   2,295,698$   2,532,254$       

Agenda Item

**The Police Pension amounts are as of 9/30/2019. 
The Pension Board contracts their accounting 
services; which sometimes results in a reporting 

3.31



83.3% of Fiscal Year is Complete

Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

GENERAL FUND
REVENUES
     Taxes 11,148,200         8,954,867           80.3% Sales Tax % of Budget 80.0%
 Local HR Sales Tax % of Budget 82.8%

Food & Beverage % of Budget 86.3%
Room & Admission % of Budget 93.9%

Real Estate Transfer % of Budget 119.0%
     Licenses & Fees 737,000             605,523             82.2% Building Permit Fee Revenue $219,969

Bldg Permits % of Licenses & Fees 36.3%
     Fines & Forfeitures 227,000             217,630             95.9%
     Allotments, Grants & Reimbursements 339,300             346,105             102.0%
     Miscellaneous 87,840               129,471             147.4%
     Other Income 87,000               236,954             272.4%

TOTAL REVENUES 12,626,340$    10,490,552$    83.1%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 300,520             244,909             81.5%
     Contractual Services 3,200                 330                    10.3%
     Other Charges 33,800               27,533               81.5%
Administration 337,520             272,772             80.8%

     Personnel Expenses 311,940             263,392             84.4%
     Contractual Services 23,630               30,670               129.8%
     Other Charges 4,720                 2,630                 55.7%
Finance 340,290             296,692             87.2%

     Personnel Expenses 3,678,090          2,482,119           67.5%
     Contractual Services 152,760             123,872             81.1%
     Commodities 34,660               37,629               108.6%
     Other Charges 147,100             101,734             69.2%
     Transfers Out 168,600             140,500             83.3%
Police 4,181,210          2,885,854           69.0%

     Personnel Expenses 473,050             406,279             85.9%
     Contractual Services 157,800             70,026               44.4%
     Other Charges 481,350             285,200             59.3%
     Transfers Out 4,820                 4,017                 83.3%
Community & Economic Dev. 1,117,020          765,521             68.5%

     Contractual Services 1,534,720          1,288,632           84.0%
     Commodities 14,400               8,183                 56.8%
     Other Charges 82,100               34,389               41.9%
Insurance & Common 1,631,220          1,331,204           81.6%

Public Works
     Personnel Expenses 205,940             176,690             85.8%
     Contractual Services 36,500               38,049               104.2%
     Other Charges 12,730               12,277               96.4%
   Admin 255,170             227,016             89.0%

     Personnel Expenses 529,650             502,835             94.9%
     Contractual Services 472,700             212,469             44.9%
     Commodities 94,300               100,976             107.1%
     Other Charges 13,630               13,174               96.7%
     Transfers Out 144,510             120,425             83.3%
   Streets 1,254,790          949,879             75.7%

     Personnel Expenses 550,230             477,259             86.7%
     Contractual Services 622,980             560,786             90.0% Includes Insurance Covered Exp
     Commodities 51,000               32,015               62.8%
     Other Charges 10,730               8,793                 81.9%
     Transfers Out 110,790             92,325               83.3%
   Parks & Open Space 1,345,730          1,171,178           87.0%

     Contractual Services 167,300             129,711             77.5%
     Commodities 19,000               14,653               77.1%
     Other Charges 3,000                 2,325                 77.5%
     Transfers Out 4,820                 4,017                 83.3%
   Buildings & Grounds 194,120             150,705             77.6%

     Transfers Out 1,837,591          700,000             38.1%
   Debt & Transfers 1,837,591          700,000             38.1%

         
TOTAL EXPENSES 12,494,661$    8,750,822$      70.0%

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
REVENUES AND EXPENSES BY FUND

10/31/2019



Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

WATER & SEWER FUND
REVENUES
     Licenses & Fees 5,221,000          4,086,501           78.3%  
     Miscellaneous Revenue 10,000               11,208               112.1%
     Other Income 4,000                 4,271                 106.8%

TOTAL REVENUES 5,235,000$      4,101,980$      78.4%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 257,670             219,107             85.0%
     Contractual Services 223,245             209,768             94.0%
     Commodities 1,600                 905                    56.6%
     Other Charges 2,320                 1,938                 83.5%
     Other Expenses -                    -                    0.0%
     Transfers Out 801,095             600,821             75.0%
   Administration 1,285,930          1,032,539           80.3%

     Personnel Expenses 543,330             445,537             82.0%
     Contractual Services 3,296,630          2,472,788           75.0%
     Commodities 27,450               31,677               115.4%
     Other Charges 33,000               7,891                 23.9%
     Transfers Out 48,170               40,142               83.3%
   Operating 3,948,580          2,998,035           75.9%

          
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,234,510$      4,030,574$      77.0%  

WATER & SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Licenses & Fees 150,350             243,385             161.9%
     Miscellaneous Revenue -                    -                    0.0%
     Other Income 7,000                 5,999                 85.7%
     Transfers 1,813,040          1,300,821           71.7%

TOTAL REVENUES 1,970,390$      1,550,205$      78.7%

EXPENSES
     Capital Outlay 2,474,000          1,370,858           55.4%

TOTAL EXPENSES 2,474,000$      1,370,858$      55.4%

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND
REVENUES
     Allotments, Grants & Reimbursements 183,820             171,267             93.2%
     Other Income 500                    828                    165.6%

TOTAL REVENUES 184,320$         172,095$          93.4%

EXPENSES
     Capital Projects 175,000             -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 175,000$         -$                  0.0%

FRAUD, ALCOHOL & DRUG ENFORCEMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Other Income -                    8,927                 0.0%

TOTAL REVENUES -$                  8,927$              0.0%

EXPENSES
     Other Charges 21,210               6,417                 30.3%
     Transfers 43,500               -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 64,710$            6,417$              9.9%

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE FUND
REVENUES
     Transfers 481,710             401,425             83.3%

TOTAL REVENUES 481,710$         401,425$          83.3%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 188,990             168,279             89.0%
     Contractual Services 162,720             117,184             72.0%
     Commodities 119,300             120,206             100.8%
     Other Charges 10,850               6,477                 59.7%

TOTAL EXPENSES 481,860$         412,146$          85.5%



Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

E911 FUND
REVENUES
     Taxes 340,000             102,767             30.2%
     Other Income 50                      16                      31.4%
     Transfers -                    -                    0.0%

TOTAL REVENUES 340,050$         102,783$          30.2%

EXPENSES
     Contractual Services 360,050             115,453             32.1%

TOTAL EXPENSES 360,050$         115,453$          32.1%

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Other Income 624,500             783,566             125.5%

TOTAL REVENUES 624,500$         783,566$          125.5%

EXPENSES
     Other Charges -                    -                    0.0%
     Transfers 991,000             437,375             44.1%

TOTAL EXPENSES 991,000$         437,375$          44.1%

GENERAL CAPITAL
REVENUES
     Grants -                    (16,706)              0.0%
     Other Income 917,740             -                    0.0%
     Transfers  In 1,860,146          437,375             23.5%

TOTAL REVENUES 2,777,886$      420,669$          15.1%

EXPENSES
     Facilities 290,000             132,328             45.6%
     Equipment 169,000             109,131             64.6%
     Furniture & Fixtures -                    -                    0.0%
     Storm Sewer & Water 947,000             233,888             24.7%
     Parks 1,041,000          149,438             14.4%
     Roadways 527,500             47,281               9.0%
     Vehicles 105,000             -                    0.0%
     Miscellaneous Capital 37,000               7,755                 21.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 3,116,500$      679,822$          21.8%

POLICE PENSION FUND**
REVENUES
     Taxes 855,000             822,309             96.2% Property Taxes
     Miscellaneous Revenue 210,630             173,413             82.3%
     Other Income 170,330             2,651,487           1556.7% Investment Income

TOTAL REVENUES 1,235,960$      3,647,209$      295.1%

EXPENSES
     Contractual Services 92,300               73,137               79.2%
     Other Charges 8,600                 1,540                 17.9%
     Other Charges 1,135,060          1,068,039           94.1%

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,235,960$      1,142,715$      92.5%
**The Police Pension amounts are as of 9/30/2019.
The Pension Board contracts their accounting services; which sometimes results in a reporting delay.

SEDGEBROOK SSA
REVENUES
     Taxes 1,164,070          1,162,508           99.9%
     Other Income 21,000               18,235               86.8% Interest Income

TOTAL REVENUES 1,185,070$      1,180,742$      99.6%

EXPENSES
     Contractual Services 23,500               5,170                 22.0%
     Capital Outlay 1,161,570          1,147,813           98.8%

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,185,070$      1,152,983$      97.3%



Agenda Item
4.1

Column1 Column2
General Fund 125,772.55$              
Water & Sewer Fund 123,250.40$              
Motor Fuel Tax
Water & Sewer Improvement Fund 221,305.55$              
Fraud, Alcohol, Drug Enforcement
Vehicle Maintenance Fund 5,679.76$                  
Park Development Fund
Sedgebrook SSA
General Capital Fund 26,448.04$                

GRAND TOTAL 502,456.30$              

                           ________________________________

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

BILLS PRESENTED FOR PAYMENT
11/25/2019

Brad Burke, Village Manager

V:\Finance\Dept\Accounts Payable\Prelist_APBankTrf.xlsx



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 1/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: 123 SIGNUP
75.00American Society of Civil Engineers - Drai7686949

75.00TOTAL VENDOR 123 SIGNUP

VENDOR NAME: A T & T
67.5810/12 - 11/11/19 NP Internet Svc148060081-11/19

67.58TOTAL VENDOR A T & T

VENDOR NAME: ACCURATE DOCUMENT DESTRUCTION
279.6210/3/19 and 10/31/19 Document Destruc15669595

279.62TOTAL VENDOR ACCURATE DOCUMENT DESTRU

VENDOR NAME: ADAMS ENTERPRISES, INC.
111.60Western Plow RelaysS018180

111.60TOTAL VENDOR ADAMS ENTERPRISES, INC.

VENDOR NAME: ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED
53.11November 2019 L. Ulibarri Creative Cloud 2019-11

53.11TOTAL VENDOR ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATE

VENDOR NAME: ADVANCE ENGINE REBUILDERS
994.52Western Plow Rebuild PartsS 20975

994.52TOTAL VENDOR ADVANCE ENGINE REBUILDERS

VENDOR NAME: ADVANCED BUSINESS GR
125.00November 2019 site-to-site VPN service00022240
300.00Service Agreement90207

425.00TOTAL VENDOR ADVANCED BUSINESS GR

VENDOR NAME: ALTORFER INDUSTRIES, INC.
160,866.92East Side Reservoir Generator Set ReplacE1606301

160,866.92TOTAL VENDOR ALTORFER INDUSTRIES, INC.

VENDOR NAME: AMAZON.COM
29.18Calculator & mailing labels114-5916838-351
30.98Monitor stands for W. Dittrich114-9889001-335
79.95Letters to Santa Mailbox/letters112-110719
97.93Plant for Village Hall & 1/2 Binders/Chain 113206495568386

195.21Decorative Gate112582975123042
39.88Wireless Comfort Desktop113-4949047-222

503.92Marking Paint113376605143666
242.24Outdoor Lights - Boo Bash113502954461462
48.559-Volt Battery Chargers102320191

243.09Torches, Blood, Adapter Cords & Torch Fu113555677056714
37.99Doosl Digital Presentation Remote/Laser 114069809145554
34.00Scotch Tape from Office Depot for Public 24665 & 24668
39.98Replacement Notepad/Organizer - Brad W10292019
26.73Santa Sack - Holiday Tree Lighting112916056068666

1,649.63TOTAL VENDOR AMAZON.COM

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION
325.00Job Advertisement - Utilities Superintend21731

325.00TOTAL VENDOR AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASS

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN WELDING & GAS, INC.
115.05Gas Cylinder Rental6707627



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 2/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN WELDING & GAS, INC.
115.05TOTAL VENDOR AMERICAN WELDING & GAS, IN

VENDOR NAME: ANCEL GLINK DIAMOND BUSH
517.50BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_McDonalds 72651a
776.25BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_1370 River72651b
172.50BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_1700 River72651c
115.00BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_1501 Milw72651d

4,743.40October 2019 Legal Fees3165092-201910

6,324.65TOTAL VENDOR ANCEL GLINK DIAMOND BUSH

VENDOR NAME: ATL FIRST AID, INC
40.21First Aid Supplies - Public Works12793
37.03First Aid Supplies - Public Works13029
40.73First Aid Supplies - North Park15121
39.71First Aid Supplies - North Park14991

157.68TOTAL VENDOR ATL FIRST AID, INC

VENDOR NAME: AZAVAR
4,938.03Sales Tax audit months 7, 8, 9, 10 of 36 148617

4,938.03TOTAL VENDOR AZAVAR

VENDOR NAME: B & F CONSTRUCTION CODE SERVICES
1,070.00Plan Review_231 Olde Half Day Road_Kat52572
1,577.50October 2019 Inspections12045

2,647.50TOTAL VENDOR B & F CONSTRUCTION CODE SE

VENDOR NAME: BASECAMP WEB SOLUTIONS
75.00November 2019 Website updates2770

75.00TOTAL VENDOR BASECAMP WEB SOLUTIONS

VENDOR NAME: BEHM ENTERPRISES, IN
7,500.00BBOX Repairs @ 36 Essex, 4 Victoria & 42345

7,500.00TOTAL VENDOR BEHM ENTERPRISES, IN

VENDOR NAME: BENISTAR
986.00December 2019 retiree benefit premiums12012019

986.00TOTAL VENDOR BENISTAR

VENDOR NAME: BLOOMINGTON-NORMAL MARRIOTT HOTEL
438.75Lodging_Marriott_2019 Conference Natio70059965-revised

438.75TOTAL VENDOR BLOOMINGTON-NORMAL MARRI

VENDOR NAME: BONTA ITALIAN MARKET
220.18Special Committee of the Whole Budget 66

220.18TOTAL VENDOR BONTA ITALIAN MARKET

VENDOR NAME: BUCK BROS., INC.
157.92Stihl Concrete Saw Parts241056

157.92TOTAL VENDOR BUCK BROS., INC.

VENDOR NAME: CHICAGOLAND PAVING
16,780.00North Park Tennis Court Resurfacing - Pay19-32-3

16,780.00TOTAL VENDOR CHICAGOLAND PAVING

VENDOR NAME: CHRISTOPHER B BURKE ENGINEERING LTD
50.67Village Wide Drainage Study & Analysis P154436



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 3/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: CHRISTOPHER B BURKE ENGINEERING LTD
1,201.59Downtown Pocket Park Professional Servi154435

1,252.26TOTAL VENDOR CHRISTOPHER B BURKE ENGINE

VENDOR NAME: CINTAS CORPORATION #47P
104.08Weekly Uniform Rental - Public Works4035057540
99.82Weekly Uniform Rental4034480475

108.58Weekly Uniform Rental4033907643

312.48TOTAL VENDOR CINTAS CORPORATION #47P

VENDOR NAME: COMED
35.30Riverside Drive (2 Street Lights) 10-3-19 1475038068-11-1

232.78Rate 25 Street Lighting 10-4-19 to 11-4-6123019023-11-1

268.08TOTAL VENDOR COMED

VENDOR NAME: CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, INC.
2,017.40Electric supply WSR 9-30-19 to 10-29-1916040909801

249.85Electric supply Londonderry Liftstation 9-16050073001-10-
3,849.38Electric supply North Park 10-1-19 to 10-16052637901

6,116.63TOTAL VENDOR CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, I

VENDOR NAME: DEERFIELD VILLAGE
30,760.00New World Implementation & Training43983

30,760.00TOTAL VENDOR DEERFIELD VILLAGE

VENDOR NAME: DITTRICH WALTER
61.35IDFPR Registration Renewal Reimburseme20334047

61.35TOTAL VENDOR DITTRICH WALTER

VENDOR NAME: DIVINCI PAINTERS
3,836.00Village Hall Light Pole Painting Payment 2 32133-R

3,836.00TOTAL VENDOR DIVINCI PAINTERS

VENDOR NAME: DUSTCATCHERS & A LOGO MAT INC
59.50Floor Mat Service - Public Works 10-1-1966010
59.50Floor Mat Service - Public Works 10-15-166478
59.50Floor Mat Service - Public Works 10-29-166941
14.00Floor Mat Service - Village Hall 10-1-1966009
14.00Floor Mat Service - Village Hall 10-15-1966477
14.00Floor Mat Service - Village Hall 10-29-1966940

220.50TOTAL VENDOR DUSTCATCHERS & A LOGO MAT 

VENDOR NAME: ED'S RENTAL & SALES INC.
224.00Generator Rental276878-1

224.00TOTAL VENDOR ED'S RENTAL & SALES INC.

VENDOR NAME: ELEVATOR INSPECTION SERVICES
80.001 Stevenson Dr_New Elevator Inspection88471
51.00455 Knightsbridge Parkway_Elevator Rein88538

131.00TOTAL VENDOR ELEVATOR INSPECTION SERVIC

VENDOR NAME: EXTRA SPACE STORAGE
297.00 November 2019 Storage Fees For Special 1003660718-11-1

297.00TOTAL VENDOR EXTRA SPACE STORAGE

VENDOR NAME: FEDEX
85.48Overnight ship test results to IEPA & PD S113641274



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 4/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: FEDEX

85.48TOTAL VENDOR FEDEX

VENDOR NAME: FIRST CHOICE SERVICES-CHICAGO WEST
296.04Coffee, Creamer & Sugar042946
110.59Coffee, Creamer & Sugar041445

406.63TOTAL VENDOR FIRST CHOICE SERVICES-CHICA

VENDOR NAME: FIRST COMMUNICATIONS
281.7210 2019- T-1 Line118552500

281.72TOTAL VENDOR FIRST COMMUNICATIONS

VENDOR NAME: FIRST MIDWEST BANK
408.0310 2019 Lockbox Service1019

408.03TOTAL VENDOR FIRST MIDWEST BANK

VENDOR NAME: FIRST RESPONDERS WELLNESS CENTER
125.00Wellness Check - Clark4782

125.00TOTAL VENDOR FIRST RESPONDERS WELLNESS 

VENDOR NAME: FOREMAN, JD
855.00BBOX's and Hydrant Parts326367

855.00TOTAL VENDOR FOREMAN, JD

VENDOR NAME: FRIGHT PROPS
229.82Boo Bash ItemsM00121578

229.82TOTAL VENDOR FRIGHT PROPS

VENDOR NAME: GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS
74.85File folders, 2020 calendars, laminating pPINV1819167

74.85TOTAL VENDOR GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS

VENDOR NAME: GEWALT HAMILTON ASSOCIATES
1,611.00Various Village Streets Professional Servic3794.100-24-2
4,789.28ITEP Professional Services 9-1-19 to 9-293794.012-2

6,400.28TOTAL VENDOR GEWALT HAMILTON ASSOCIATE

VENDOR NAME: GIS CONSORTIUM
1,800.00GIS Cost Sharing Initiatives557

1,800.00TOTAL VENDOR GIS CONSORTIUM

VENDOR NAME: GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL
671.96Park Bench Donation (Balzer Park)16359701

671.96TOTAL VENDOR GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL

VENDOR NAME: GOVHR USA, LLC
150.00Utilities Superintendent Job Advertisemen104839534792319

150.00TOTAL VENDOR GOVHR USA, LLC

VENDOR NAME: GRACIE UNIVERSITY
1,990.00Defensive Tactics Training - Zange & Salk10259-000021307

1,990.00TOTAL VENDOR GRACIE UNIVERSITY

VENDOR NAME: GRAINGER, INC.
248.70Toilet Paper, Paper Towels & Cable Ties fo9346999734
67.00Fuses Facility Lighting9354838881



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 5/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: GRAINGER, INC.
6.89Clip Board9354109556

56.48Pens9354228158

379.07TOTAL VENDOR GRAINGER, INC.

VENDOR NAME: GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY
1,335.00Lighting for Spring Lake Park9313083138

1,335.00TOTAL VENDOR GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY

VENDOR NAME: HACH COMPANY
149.84Water Sample Supplies11710464

149.84TOTAL VENDOR HACH COMPANY

VENDOR NAME: HAMPTON, LENZINI AND RENWICK, INC.
937.25Park Bridge Inspections Professional Servi000020192175

937.25TOTAL VENDOR HAMPTON, LENZINI AND RENWI

VENDOR NAME: HIGHLAND PARK, CITY OF
89,690.1110/2019 Water Purchase 36864 cuft Metr 009348-10-19
13,247.6910/2019 Water Purchase 5445 cuft Metr 009297-10-19

102,937.80TOTAL VENDOR HIGHLAND PARK, CITY OF

VENDOR NAME: HOLIDAY INN
545.00Hotel Stay for Ryan Van -  IPSI 10-6-19 t28275065-1
545.00Hotel Stay for Brad Taylor - IPSI 10-6-19 28275065-2

1,090.00TOTAL VENDOR HOLIDAY INN

VENDOR NAME: HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
10.04Anti-Icing Room Supplies8010878 -1
33.54Insent Control, Pipe Plug & Rodent Killer3204204
6.95Electrical Tape10602

59.40Outdoor Outlet Covers10603
23.23Village Hall Minor Communications Upgra10661
27.00Village Hall Door Repairs9010755
94.20Fall Planters/Decor For Village Hall Planter9522428
20.32Fence Repairs @ Spring Lake Park8010873
28.68Pavement Marking8010874
54.84Street Name Sign/Post Repair & Replace8022600
98.00Salt Blaster Pump8829134
37.92Village Hall Box Fans - Smell6011127
95.32Batteries for Halloween Figures2011607

167.80Boo Bash Supplies3012753
127.78Boo Bash Supplies2012891
21.42Paint2351033

464.28Dewalt Finish Nailer2683406
194.25Cleaning Gloves2903654
123.30Rotary Tool Kit1650889
119.88Sign Materials8013332
201.42Boo Bash Supplies8013333
48.04Boo Bash Hayride Trailer Items7013505
96.55Boo Bash Supplies6013591

100.00Street Lights6013637
700.00Generator Deposit Paid on 10-25-19 for B5904027

(575.80)Generator Deposit Refund190584
397.75Concrete Blocks3900889
59.98Fog Machine for Boo Bash6200327

2,836.09TOTAL VENDOR HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 6/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: I L T
450.00BD Bond Escrow Landscape Consultant Fe174904

450.00TOTAL VENDOR I L T 

VENDOR NAME: ICMA MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS
(805.00)Credit for B. Burke ICMA annual conferenBN3P1FA8BD30

(805.00)TOTAL VENDOR ICMA MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS

VENDOR NAME: ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE
35.00Utilities Superintendent Job Advertisemen175

35.00TOTAL VENDOR ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE

VENDOR NAME: IMPACT NETWORKING, LLC
180.24Dory and PW Base & Usage Charge 11/06 1605831

180.24TOTAL VENDOR IMPACT NETWORKING, LLC

VENDOR NAME: INTOXIMETERS
205.25Breathalyzer gas canister643232

205.25TOTAL VENDOR INTOXIMETERS

VENDOR NAME: IPASS
45.00IPASS Replenishment10242019

45.00TOTAL VENDOR IPASS

VENDOR NAME: J&J POWDER COATING
875.00New Anti-Icing Unit Powdercoating19681
575.00Pintle Hook Rack Powdercoating19682
575.00Chain/Binder Rack Powdercoating19683

2,025.00TOTAL VENDOR J&J POWDER COATING

VENDOR NAME: LAKE COUNTY DIV OF TRANSPORATION
1,170.00Crosswalk Pavement Markings for Rt 22 & 430027339

1,170.00TOTAL VENDOR LAKE COUNTY DIV OF TRANSPO

VENDOR NAME: LAKE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS
51.00BD Bond Escrow_Lake County Recorder_82019-00057166

51.00TOTAL VENDOR LAKE COUNTY RECORDER OF DE

VENDOR NAME: LAKE FOREST POST OFFICE
60.59Q4 2019 Newsletter Postage2019Q4

60.59TOTAL VENDOR LAKE FOREST POST OFFICE

VENDOR NAME: LALUZERNE & SMITH, LTD.
3,923.75Legal Services October 2019October 2019

3,923.75TOTAL VENDOR LALUZERNE & SMITH, LTD.

VENDOR NAME: LAWSON PRODUCTS INC
82.71Pintle Hook Pins9307134080

82.71TOTAL VENDOR LAWSON PRODUCTS INC

VENDOR NAME: LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS
80.00Oct. 2019 Internet, Phone & Computer S1217074-2019103

80.00TOTAL VENDOR LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS

VENDOR NAME: LINCOLNSHIRE POSTMASTER
629.37Q4 2019 Newsletter Postage2019Q4



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 7/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: LINCOLNSHIRE POSTMASTER
629.37TOTAL VENDOR LINCOLNSHIRE POSTMASTER

VENDOR NAME: LINCOLNSHIRE RIVERWOODS FPD
319.00Plan REview_231 Olde Half Day Rd_Katsn10672
319.00Plan Review_ 3 Overlook Point_Zebra Tec10666

638.00TOTAL VENDOR LINCOLNSHIRE RIVERWOODS F

VENDOR NAME: LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE-PETTY CASH
283.9011/25/19 Petty Cash Reimbursements11252019

283.90TOTAL VENDOR LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE-PETTY 

VENDOR NAME: MARTAM CONSTRUCTION INC.
13,051.28Emergency Water Connection @ Rt 22 & Retention Only111

13,051.28TOTAL VENDOR MARTAM CONSTRUCTION INC.

VENDOR NAME: MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY
18.71O-Rings20402604

18.71TOTAL VENDOR MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY

VENDOR NAME: MICHAEL MERANDA JR.
240.0011/11/19 RVB/COW Mtg. & 11/12/19 Zon191511

240.00TOTAL VENDOR MICHAEL MERANDA JR.

VENDOR NAME: MICRO MOTION, INC.
5,564.35Magnetic Flow Meter and Set-up40561996

5,564.35TOTAL VENDOR MICRO MOTION, INC.

VENDOR NAME: MIDWEST HOSE & FITTINGS, INC.
499.94Anti-Icing Room/Machine Valves133232

499.94TOTAL VENDOR MIDWEST HOSE & FITTINGS, IN

VENDOR NAME: MORRISON ASSOCIATES, LTD
1,500.002019 - 2020 Annual Fee2019-0352

1,500.00TOTAL VENDOR MORRISON ASSOCIATES, LTD

VENDOR NAME: MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS - STARCOM21
952.00Nov. 2019 Starcom Monthly Use Rate457181022019

952.00TOTAL VENDOR MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS - STARC

VENDOR NAME: NATIONAL PEN CO.
146.29LPD Promo Lights111140413

146.29TOTAL VENDOR NATIONAL PEN CO.

VENDOR NAME: NATIVE RESTORATION SERVICES INC
13,244.09Removal @ Treatment of Invasive Species 811148

13,244.09TOTAL VENDOR NATIVE RESTORATION SERVICE

VENDOR NAME: NEOPOST USA INC
105.00Meter Rental 12/02/19 - 03/01/2057122850

105.00TOTAL VENDOR NEOPOST USA INC

VENDOR NAME: NIPAS
1,365.85Field Force Uniform & Equipment - Kreis13168

1,365.85TOTAL VENDOR NIPAS



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 8/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: NOODLES & COMPANY
133.02October 24, 2019 SCOW Budget Worksho2019-1024

133.02TOTAL VENDOR NOODLES & COMPANY

VENDOR NAME: NORTH EAST MULTI-REGIONAL TRAINING
125.00Breath Analysis Training - Salkauskas264799

125.00TOTAL VENDOR NORTH EAST MULTI-REGIONAL 

VENDOR NAME: NORTH SHORE GAS
33.8824400 Riverwoods Pumping 10-11-1- to 606017125-01-11-
34.31Fallstone Liftstation 10-11-19 to 11-7-19604290016-04-11-
34.31Westwood Liftstation 10-11-19 to 11-8-1604290016-02-11-
75.61Np Maint. Bldg Gas Service 10-11-19 to 1603028481-01-11-
32.63Farrington Liftstation 10-11-19 to 11-8-1604290016-03-11-
33.52NP Concesstion Gas Service 10-11-19 to 603028481-02-11-
32.63Old Mill Liftstation 10-11-19 to 11-8-19604290016-01-11-
33.88207A Northampton 10-11-19 to 11-8-19604290016-05-11-
97.35Well #3 Gas Service 10-11-19 to 11-8-19606253075-01-11-

408.12TOTAL VENDOR NORTH SHORE GAS

VENDOR NAME: NORTH SUBURBAN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COO
21.00December 2019 Vision Insurance Premiu1219V

6,772.00October 2019 Dental Premiums1107719D

6,793.00TOTAL VENDOR NORTH SUBURBAN EMPLOYEE B

VENDOR NAME: NORTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY
(50.00)B. Burke cancellation - MPA Alumni & Frie8470_Refund

(50.00)TOTAL VENDOR NORTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSI

VENDOR NAME: O'HERRON CO INC
28.81Uniform Fleece Jacket - Cutro1964092-IN

28.81TOTAL VENDOR O'HERRON CO INC

VENDOR NAME: PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC.
87.75BD Bond Escrow_Zoning Board Legal Noti32998a
50.6011/12/2019 Zoning Board Legal Notice_C32998b

138.35TOTAL VENDOR PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC.

VENDOR NAME: PAYLOCITY
209.3111/08/19 Pay Services105726138
663.1511/22/19 Pay Services105775612

872.46TOTAL VENDOR PAYLOCITY

VENDOR NAME: PLAYPOWER LT FARMINGTON INC
269.62Park Toy Hardware1400238357

269.62TOTAL VENDOR PLAYPOWER LT FARMINGTON IN

VENDOR NAME: POMP'S TIRE SERVICE INC.
989.60Truck 231 Tires0290150337

(439.48)Tires - Crown Vic Return290158666-1
444.48Tires - Crown Vic290157072-1

994.60TOTAL VENDOR POMP'S TIRE SERVICE INC.

VENDOR NAME: POSTAL SOURCE
154.50Annual Maint Contract Neopost Mail MachINV86816

154.50TOTAL VENDOR POSTAL SOURCE



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 9/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: RJN GROUP INC.
47,387.35Sanitary Rehab Professional Services thro339205

47,387.35TOTAL VENDOR RJN GROUP INC.

VENDOR NAME: ROBERT AND INGRID MICHAEL
2,000.00BD TCO Bond Refund - 312 BriarwoodB19-0002TCR

2,000.00TOTAL VENDOR ROBERT AND INGRID MICHAEL

VENDOR NAME: RUSH TRUCK CENTERS
113.76Truck 252 Coolant Elbow3017184774

113.76TOTAL VENDOR RUSH TRUCK CENTERS

VENDOR NAME: RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT
159.96Brush Clearing BladesSPI10024116

(159.96)Refund - Brush Clearing BladesPCM10001975
91.96Tree/Brush Removal ToolsSPI10024453

91.96TOTAL VENDOR RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT

VENDOR NAME: SAFETY KLEEN CORP.
390.07Washer Service Parts81365340-190547

390.07TOTAL VENDOR SAFETY KLEEN CORP.

VENDOR NAME: SAM'S CLUB
12.9610/30/19 Wellness Fair Snacks892812
35.40Board Treats SCOW Budget Workshop030781

48.36TOTAL VENDOR SAM'S CLUB

VENDOR NAME: SPIRIT HALLOWEEN
715.02Boo Bash Animatronics (Props)600080627
175.37Boo Bash Animatronics (Props)100220191

890.39TOTAL VENDOR SPIRIT HALLOWEEN

VENDOR NAME: STATE TREASURER
9,768.78Traffic signal maint. July - September 20157992

9,768.78TOTAL VENDOR STATE TREASURER

VENDOR NAME: STREICHER'S, INC.
1,320.00Ballistic Shield & ShippingI1396347
1,260.00Ballistic ShieldI1396348

2,580.00TOTAL VENDOR STREICHER'S, INC.

VENDOR NAME: SUBURBAN ACCENTS, INC.
525.00Replace Graphics Squad 10628962

525.00TOTAL VENDOR SUBURBAN ACCENTS, INC.

VENDOR NAME: TGF ENTERPRISES INC.
1,255.00Cutting Native Grasses in North Park Park31361

1,255.00TOTAL VENDOR TGF ENTERPRISES INC.

VENDOR NAME: THE ACTORS GYMNASIUM
465.002019 Boo Bash Stilt Walkers/Jugglers Fin10252009 #2

465.00TOTAL VENDOR THE ACTORS GYMNASIUM

VENDOR NAME: TKG ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES GROUPLLC
1,750.001st Sweep for Leaf Program (West & East CRO14279T



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 10/10Page:11/21/2019 12:46 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 11/12/2019 - 11/25/2019
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: TKG ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES GROUPLLC
1,750.00TOTAL VENDOR TKG ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICE

VENDOR NAME: TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION INC.
990.00Street Name Signs102573

990.00TOTAL VENDOR TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTI

VENDOR NAME: US POSTAL SERVICE
1,000.00Meter Refill: POC Acct #805651311132019

1,000.00TOTAL VENDOR US POSTAL SERVICE

VENDOR NAME: VILLAGE GREEN BACELINE LP
5,500.00Holiday Tree Lighting 20192019

5,500.00TOTAL VENDOR VILLAGE GREEN BACELINE LP

VENDOR NAME: WALMART.COM
44.97Phone Cases for Kyocera Phones5821928764560

44.97TOTAL VENDOR WALMART.COM

VENDOR NAME: WAUKEGAN TIRE
234.00Toro Polar Trac Tires4548977

234.00TOTAL VENDOR WAUKEGAN TIRE

502,456.30GRAND TOTAL:



 
 
 
 
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
www. l i n co l n sh i re i l . g ov  

 
 7.1 

MINUTES 
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

Monday, November 11, 2019 
Present: 
Mayor Brandt    Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac   Trustee Hancock  
Trustee Leider    Trustee Pantelis 
Trustee Raizin  (Arrived at 7:04 p.m.) Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Simon  Village Manager Burke 
Chief of Police Leonas  Public Works Director Woodbury 
Village Treasurer/Finance Director Peterson Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya  Economic Development Director Gilbertson 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 

Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m., and Village Clerk Mastandrea 
called the Roll.  

 
2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
     
3.0  REPORTS OF OFFICERS 

3.1   Mayor’s Report 
3.11 Leaf Pickup  
 Mayor Brandt noted leaf pickup has been rescheduled due to the recent 

snow.  
 
 Public Works Director Woodbury noted leaf collection will be extended 

due to the recent snow. Changes to the program will be posted on the 
website.  

 
3.2 Village Clerk’s Report – None 

 
3.3   Village Treasurer’s Report – None 

 
3.4 Village Manager’s Report  

3.41 Snow Event 
  Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development (CED) 

Director Gilbertson thanked Public Works for their snow clearing efforts. 
 
3.42 Veterans Day 
  Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson acknowledge Veteran’s 

day and thanked all who have served and are serving.  
 
3.42 Leaf Collection  
  Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted leaf collection 

has been delayed. All streets not collected last week will be prioritized. 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Regular Village Board Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 
 

Normal collection services will resume east of Riverwoods Road later this 
week, weather permitting. 

 
3.43 Holiday Tree Lighting 
  Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson invited all to the 

Holiday Tree Lighting on Friday, December 6 at 5:30 p.m. in Village 
Green.  

  
4.0   PAYMENT OF BILLS 

4.1   Bills Presented for Payment on November 11, 2019 in the amount of 
$339,859.63 

  Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson provided a summary of the November 11, 
2019 bills prelist presented for payment with the total being $339,859.63. The 
total amount is based on $284,400 for General Fund; $24,600 for Water & Sewer 
Fund; $7,100 for Water & Sewer Improvement Fund; $11,800 for Vehicle 
Maintenance Fund; and $11,800 for General Capital Fund.  

 
  Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to 

approve the bills prelist dated November 11, 2019 as presented. The roll call vote 
was as follows: AYES: Trustees Grujanac, Pantelis, Raizin, Leider, Hancock, and 
Harms Muth. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None. ABSTAIN: None. Mayor Brandt 
declared the motion carried.  

 
5.0  CITIZENS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD (on agenda items only) - None 
 
6.0  PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS - None 
 
7.0 CONSENT AGENDA  

7.1 Approval of October 24, 2019 Special Committee of the Whole Meeting 
Minutes 

 
7.2 Approval of October 28, 2019 Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes  
 
7.3 Approval of October 28, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

 
7.4 Approval of an Ordinance Regarding an Amendment to Title 12 (Sign 

Control) of the Lincolnshire Village Code to Permit, and Develop 
Regulations for, Manual and Electronic Menu Boards for Food 
Establishments with a Drive-Through (Keyser Industries / McDonald’s 
Restaurant – 450 Milwaukee Avenue) 

 
7.5 Approval of a First Amendment to Declarations of Whytegate 

Homeowners Association (Whytegate Homeowner’s Association) 
 
7.6 Approval of a Request for a Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for 

444 Social Luxury Apartments (Smash Residential Chicago – 444 and 446 
Parkway Drive) 

 
7.7 Approval of an Ordinance Amending Title 5 (Building Regulations), 

Chapter 3 (Building Fees and Charges) of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Regular Village Board Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to approve the 

Consent Agenda. The roll call vote was as follows: AYES: Trustees Grujanac, 
Pantelis, Raizin, Leider, Hancock, and Harms Muth. NAYS: None.  ABSENT: None. 
ABSTAIN: None. Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried. 

 
8.0  ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

8.1 Planning, Zoning & Land Use 
8.2 Finance and Administration  
8.3 Public Works 
8.4 Police 
8.5 Parks and Recreation 
8.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

 
  9.0 REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES - None 
 
10.0  UNFINISHED BUSINESS - None 
 
11.0 NEW BUSINESS - None 

 
12.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION - None 

 
13.0 ADJOURNMENT 

 
 Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Raizin seconded the motion to adjourn. The voice 

vote was unanimous and Mayor Brandt declared the meeting adjourned at 7:07 p.m. 
  
  



Page 4 
MINUTES – Regular Village Board Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 
 
 
 
 Barbara Mastandrea 
 Village Clerk 



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
www. l i n co l n sh i re i l . g ov  

 
7.2 

MINUTES 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Monday, November 11, 2019   
Present: 
Mayor Brandt      Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac    Trustee Hancock 
Trustee Leider    Trustee Pantelis 
Trustee Raizin     Village Clerk Mastandrea    
Village Attorney Simon   Village Manager Burke 
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson   Public Works Director Woodbury 
Chief of Police Leonas   Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya  Economic Development Director Gilbertson        

        
1.0 ROLL CALL 

Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:09 p.m., and Village Clerk Mastandrea 
called the Roll. 

 
2.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
 2.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use 

2.11 Consideration of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property 
Commonly Known as 2 Hotz Road from R1 Single-Family 
Resident to E Small Scale Office (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital – 
420 Half Day Road) 

 
2.12 Consideration of an Ordinance Granting an Amendment to a 

Special Use Granting Variations for an Animal Clinic 
(Lincolnshire Animal Hospital – 420 Half Day Road) 

 
 Mayor Brandt opened up Items 2.11 and 2.12 together. 
 
 Planning & Development Manager Zozulya summarized the proposed 

ordinance rezoning the property commonly known as 2 Hotz Road 
from R1 Single-Family Resident to E Small Scale Office and a proposed 
ordinance granting an amendment to a Special Use granting variations 
to allow parking expansion onto the 2 Hotz Road property for Animal 
Hospital operations; to locate parking spaces in a front and corner side 
yard; and to locate a yard fence in a required corner side yard 
setback. The petitioner first presented to the Board in March, then 
proceeded to the Zoning Board for a public hearing as well as review 
by the Architectural Review Board (ARB) in April. Both advisory boards 
unanimously recommended approval. The ARB had one condition 
regarding placement of wood chips near the walkway, which the 
petitioner agreed to install but Lake County Stormwater Management 
(LCSMC) did not allow. Staff concurs with LCSMC’s position. 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

 
 Dr. Patrick Emmelot introduced himself and Stuart Clark, owners of 

the Animal Hospital. Dr. Emmelot presented additional detail on the 
request including current and proposed site plans, fencing, parking, 
landscaping, and electrical. 

  
 It was the consensus of the Board to place items 2.11 and 2.12 on the 

Consent Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board 
Meeting. 

 
2.13 Preliminary Evaluation of a New Special Use with Variations to 

Ratify Existing Improvements for a Proposed Building Addition 
(Daniel Wright Junior High School – 1370 Riverwoods Road) 

 
 Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided a summary of 

petition for a new Special Use with variations to ratify existing 
improvements for a proposed 1,800-foot building addition at Daniel 
Wright Junior High School. This has been published for a Public 
Hearing at the Zoning Board for the November 12 Zoning Board 
meeting due to timing and is scheduled to proceed to the ARB the 
following week.  

 
 Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided additional detail on 

the property. It was developed in unincorporated Lake County in 1972 
and annexed by the Village in 1989 in the R1 Single-Family zoning 
district.   

 
 Planning & Development Manager Zozulya noted School District (SD) 

103 proposes the building addition to address growing enrollment and 
create additional classroom space.  

 
 Dr. Scott Warren, Superintendent for Lincolnshire-Prairie View School 

District 103, thanked the Board and introduced Ken Florey, Attorney 
with Robbins Schwartz, representing SD 103.  

 
 Mr. Florey introduced Scott Gaunkey, Director of Facilities for 

Lincolnshire-Prairie View School District 103; Matt Bickel, Lead 
Architect with Wold Architects and Engineers; Leo Morand, Engineer 
with Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc.; Jodi McCarthy, Engineer with 
Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc.; and Terry Fielding, Construction 
Manager with International Contractors, Inc.  

 
 Mr. Bickel provided an introduction and background of the petition. 
 
 Ms. McCarthy provided information relative to storm water 

improvements for the proposed school addition.  
 
 Mr. Bickel continued the presentation with proposed architectural 

renderings. 
 
 Mr. Florey continued the presentation listing the variation requests. 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

Mr. Bickel provided more detail for these variation requests. 
 
 Mr. Florey provided a list of Special Use standards for zoning 

variations. 
 
 Trustee Leider suggested keeping the architecture natural without 

being too modern.  
 
 Mayor Brandt asked when construction would begin if the petition is 

approved. Mr. Bickel stated the project would go to bid in January with 
the intention of starting construction as early as March. 

 
 Mayor Brandt noted concern regarding Village projects scheduled for 

Riverwoods Road that could affect the proposed construction at the 
school.  

 
 Dr. Warren noted summer school will not be at Daniel Wright in 2020 

due to the proposed project. 
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to refer this to the Zoning Board for 

a Public Hearing and to the Architectural Review Board. 
 
2.14 Consideration of Zoning Board Non-Recommendation 

Regarding Text Amendments to Single-Family Residential Bulk 
Regulations in Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-
Family Residence Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family 
Residence District) of the Lincolnshire Village Code (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided an update 

and summary regarding the Zoning Board’s non-recommendation 
regarding text amendments to single-family residential bulk 
regulations in Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-Family 
Residence Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of 
the Lincolnshire Village Code. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Gilbertson stated the Zoning Board thought the current code was 
sufficient to regulate single-family residential bulk and had concern 
with staffs’ initial proposal in that it may create legally non-conforming 
structures. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson added 
that staff developed a modified, less restrictive recommendation 
regarding square footage caps in the R2A and R3 zoning districts, in 
light of the Zoning Board’s unfavorable recommendation. Assistant 
Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted the Board may elect to 
do the following: (1) direct staff to prepare an ordinance for the 
November 25 Regular Village Board meeting, and vote to overturn the 
Zoning Board’s unfavorable recommendation; (2) direct staff to 
conduct additional research on FAR or other zoning-specific bulk 
regulations; or (3) conclude consideration of zoning bulk regulations. 

 
 A conversation regarding how this project was initiated followed. 

Trustee Hancock noted his opinion is one structure may have a 



Page 4 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

detrimental impact on existing homes in the area.  
 
 A conversation ensued regarding current allowances and restrictions. 
 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted the 

architectural portion regarding bulk regulations still needs to come 
back to the Village Board, as Board’s direction to staff included 
investigating zoning and architectural components to regulate single-
family residential bulk. 

  
 Trustee Hancock reiterated his concern regarding the size of homes 

being built.  
 
 Village Attorney Simon noted some of the concerns by the Board 

would require a property owner to seek a variance and demonstrate 
hardship relative to exceeding maximum home size.  

 
 Trustee Leider asked if the Zoning Board had concerns with the 

concepts or the numbers presented. Trustee Harms Muth, Zoning 
Board liaison, stated the Zoning Board did not like the legal, non-
conforming homes that would have been created under a previous 
proposal and did not understand what problem the Board is trying to 
solve. Trustee Harms Muth restated the Zoning Board’s position of the 
existing regulations being able to adequately address home size.  

 
 A conversation regarding concerns of larger homes, what the code 

allows, and potential code changes relative to bulk regulations 
followed. 

 
 Village Attorney Simon stated for the Village Board to approve 

anything without further study, it would require a two-thirds vote of 
the Village Board to overturn the Zoning Board’s unfavorable 
recommendation.  

 
 Trustee Leider stated he would be in favor of a change but would defer 

to staff regarding which proposal they recommended for approval. 
Trustee Leider stated he is supportive of being more restrictive and 
does not have a problem going back to the Zoning Board to explain 
the concerns. Trustee Raizin was in agreement with Trustee Leider’s 
recommendation.  

 
 Trustee Pantelis stated she is in favor of being as restrictive as the 

Board thinks makes sense for the Village.  
 
 Trustee Grujanac stated she is in favor of the more restrictive 

proposed code changes.  
 
 Trustee Hancock stated he is in favor of either the past proposal or 

revised proposal, noting he would like something more in place for the 
R1 and R2 areas. 

 



Page 5 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

 Trustee Harms Muth stated her opinion was that the current code is 
adequate, but if the majority of the Board was in favor, she would 
agree to the revised proposal since it would leave less homes in legal, 
non-conforming compliance status. Trustee Harms Muth suggested 
other members of the Village Board articulate their concerns to the 
Zoning Board so they have a better understanding of the motivation 
for the project and the problem the Village Board is trying to address.  

 
 A conversation regarding the current and possible non-conforming 

homes followed.  
 
 Trustee Leider stated his proposal would be for the Board to move 

forward with the original maximum home size cap ratio of 13,000 
square feet for R1, 8,000 square feet for R2, 7,000 square feet for 
R2A, and 5,500 square feet for R3. Mayor Brandt stated, if this is what 
the Board is in agreement with, it will need a super majority vote and 
all Trustees will need to be at the next meeting for this vote.  

 
 Trustee Raizin suggested the Board reach out to the Zoning Board on 

the issues. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated 
his opinion is that this issue has been communicated well with the 
Zoning Board and believes it is just a matter of difference in 
philosophy or perspective. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Gilbertson stated there is a Zoning Board Meeting tomorrow, 
November 12, and he will inform the Zoning Board of the Village Board 
concerns and recommendations again.  

   
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

2.2 Finance and Administration 
2.21 Consideration of Approval of the Fiscal Year 2020 Budget 

(Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided a 

summary of the proposed Fiscal Year 2020 Budget which incorporates 
Board-directed changes from the Special Committee of the Whole 
Budget Workshop Meetings.  

 
 Mayor Brandt asked if staff knew what the Village might receive in 

Motor Fuel Tax revenue. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Gilbertson stated he did not know but would find out and report back 
to the Board.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
2.22 Consideration of an Ordinance Levying Taxes for Corporate 

Purposes of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois for 
Fiscal Year Beginning the First Day of January, 2019 and 
ending December 31, 2019 (Village of Lincolnshire) 



Page 6 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

 
 Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson summarized the annual ordinance 

to levy taxes. The 2019 estimated property tax levy to be collected in 
Fiscal Year 2020 is $1,667,500. The property tax revenue reflected in 
the Proposed 2020 Budget will be used to fund police protection 
services, police pension contributions, Social Security obligations, and 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund expenses. The total proposed levy is 
exclusive of election costs and debt retirement, which is equivalent to 
last year’s contributions. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
2.23 Consideration of an Ordinance Abating and Reducing Certain 

Taxes Heretofore Levied to Pay Debt Service on Special Service 
Area (SSA) Bonds of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, 
Illinois (Sedgebrook Special Service Area Number 1 Special Tax 
Bonds) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided a 

summary of the annual Ordinance abating and reducing certain taxes 
heretofore levied to pay debt service on Special Service Area (SSA) 
Bonds of the Village of Lincolnshire for Sedgebrook Special Service 
Area Number 1 Special Tax Bonds.  

 
 Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson clarified that the Village is not 

refunding or paying off these bonds in 2020.   
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
2.24 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15 of Title 1- 

Comprehensive Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
Related to the Establishment of Fees and Charges for Service 
(Water and Sewer Connection Charges and Rate)  (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided a 

summary of the annual ordinance amending Chapter 15 of Title 1- 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire Village Code related 
to the establishment of fees and charges for service (water and sewer 
connection charges and rate) which Highland Park and Lake County 
are passing on as the service providers for the Village. The average 
household will see an approximate increase of $4.48 per month.  

  
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.  
  
2.25 Consideration of Proposed Changes to Police Pension Funding 

Policy (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 



Page 7 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

 Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson provided a summary of proposed 
changes to Police Pension Funding Policy, including updated 
retirement, termination, and disability rate tables; updated percentage 
of disabilities assumed in the line of duty; updated percentage of 
deaths assumed in the line of duty from; and updated percentage of 
marriages assumed. 

 
 Village Attorney Simon noted with regards to the consolidation bill 

being considered by the Illinois General Assembly, if this bill passes, 
the Police Pension will be more in line with the Illinois Municipal 
Retirement Fund. There will be a Board that takes over all the actuarial 
assumption power and will tell the Village what it is compelled to 
contribute.  

 
 A brief discussion regarding other potential mandates followed.  
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
  
2.26 Consideration of the 2020 Calendar and Meeting Schedule 

(Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided a brief 

summary of the proposed 2020 calendar and meeting schedule.  
 
 Mayor Brandt stated adjustments can be made even if it is approved.  
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

2.3 Public Works 
2.31  Consideration of a Joint Purchasing Agreement with Morton 

Salt, Inc. in the Not-to-Exceed-Amount of $33,325.00, and 
Compass Minerals America, Inc. in the Not-to-Exceed Amount 
of $28,611.00, for the Purchase of Rock Salt for the 2019-2020 
Winter Season (Village of Lincolnshire) 

  
 Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of a joint 
purchasing Agreement with Morton Salt, Inc. in the not-to-Exceed-
amount of $33,325.00, and Compass Minerals America, Inc. in the 
not-to-Exceed amount of $28,611.00, for the purchase of rock salt for 
the 2019-2020 winter season. 
 

 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 

 
2.32 Consideration of a One-Year Supplemental Statement of Work 

with Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Consortium 
Service Provider, Municipal GIS Partners (MGP) for Geographic 
Information Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 



Page 8 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
November 11, 2019 
 
 

 Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of a one-year 
supplemental statement of work with Geographic Information Systems 
(GIS) consortium service provider, Municipal GIS Partners (MGP) for 
geographic information services in an amount not to exceed 
$62,640.00. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

2.4 Public Safety   
2.5 Public Safety 
2.6 Parks and Recreation 
2.7 Judiciary and Personnel 

  
3.0  UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None 
 
4.0  NEW BUSINESS – None 
   
5.0  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to go into Executive 
Session for the purpose of discussing personnel. The roll call vote was as follows: 
AYES: Trustees Harms Muth, Hancock, Pantelis, Grujanac, Leider, and Raizin. NAYS: 
None. ABSENT: None. ABSTAIN: None. Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried and 
the Board went into Executive Session at 8:56 p.m. and came out of Executive 
Session at 9:05 p.m. 
  

6.0  ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to adjourn. 
Upon a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared 
the meeting adjourned at 9:06 p.m. 
 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 

 
 
 Barbara Mastandrea 

 Village Clerk 



 

Agenda Item 

7.5 RVB 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Regular Village Board 

November 25, 2019 

 

Subject:   Single-Family Residential Bulk Regulations  

 

Action Requested: Approval of an Ordinance Amending Single-Family Residential 

Bulk Regulations in Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-

Family Residence Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family 

Residence District) of the Lincolnshire Village Code  

 

Originated 

By/Contact: 

Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 

Mike Jesse, Building Official 

Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager  

 

Referred to:  Village Board 

 

 

Background 

At the November 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole meeting, it was the consensus of the 

Village Board to place on the November 25, 2019 consent agenda staff’s original text 

amendment recommendations regarding floor area ratio (FAR) reductions in R1 and R2 

Single-Family Residence zoning districts, as well as implementation of square footage caps 

in the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 Single-Family Residence zoning districts. The table below 

reflects existing conditions in Lincolnshire with respect to home size square footage, floor 

area ratio, and lot size; legally non-conforming homes (both current and potential if the text 

amendments are approved); current code requirements; and proposed code requirements 

in bold red text. 

 

EXISTING CONDITIONS R1 R2 R2A R3 

Home Size     

Maximum Home Size (sq. ft.) 8,652  11,712  7,012  6,206  

Average Home Size (sq. ft.) 5,239  4,529  3,696  2,902  

Minimum Home Size (sq. ft.) 1,492  2,236  1,902  1,013  

FAR     

Max FAR 0.11  0.13  0.30  0.29  

Average FAR 0.07  0.09  0.15  0.14  

Minimum FAR 0.04  0.04  0.02  0.04  

Lot Size     

Maximum Lot Size (sq. ft.)  100,705   124,720   120,739   57,283  

Average Lot Size (sq. ft.)  82,253   55,536   26,184   21,445  

Minimum Lot Size (sq. ft.)  69,316   40,091   19,013   8,768  

Home Data – Legally Non-Conforming 

Considerations 

    

Number of Homes in Zoning District 23 

(1.5%) 

31 

(2.0%) 

363 

(23.4%) 

1,136 

(73.1%) 

Number of Homes Greater than 0.25 FAR 

(legally non-conforming) 

- - 1 2 

Number of Homes within 0.23 - 0.25 FAR 

(at risk of becoming legally non-conforming) 

- - 1 12 

(Continued on next page) 

 
 



 

Agenda Item 

7.5 RVB 

 

CURRENT CODE REQUIREMENTS R1 R2 R2A R3 

Minimum Lot Size (sq. ft.) 80,000  40,000  20,000  20,000  

Maximum FAR 0.25  0.25  0.25  0.25  

Maximum Home Size per FAR 

(w/ minimum lot size - sq. ft.) 

20,000  10,000  5,000  5,000  

     

PROPOSED CODE REQUIREMENTS R1 R2 R2A R3 

Minimum Lot Size (sq. ft.) 80,000  40,000  20,000  20,000  

Maximum FAR A  0.15  0.15  0.25  0.25  

Maximum Home Size per FAR  

(w/ minimum lot size – sq. ft.) A, B 

12,000 6,000 5,000 5,000 

Maximum Home Size Cap (sq. ft.) A, B 13,000  8,000  7,000  5,500  
A Village Code provides a 400 square foot credit for garages. This credit is not included in either FAR or square 

footage calculations. 
B Maximum home size based on the lesser value for FAR or square footage caps, depending on the lot size. 

 

Zoning Board Non-Recommendation 

On October 10, 2019, the Zoning Board issued a unanimous unfavorable recommendation 

to the Village Board regarding the proposed text amendments. Per Section 2-6-5 of the 

Village Code, “An application which fails to receive an approval recommendation of the 

Zoning Board must include written findings based upon the items set forth in Chapter 14 of 

Title 6 and must receive a favorable vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all the elected members of 

the Village Board of Trustees to be approved.” As such, the Village Board must issue a 

favorable two-thirds, supermajority vote to overturn the Zoning Board’s unfavorable 

recommendation. 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Village Board approve the ordinance in accordance with Section 2-6-5 

of the Village code. If deemed necessary, staff also requests direction from the Village 

Board regarding other zoning components of single-family residential bulk regulations that 

the Board would like staff to research and make recommendations on.   

 

Documents Attached 

 Ordinance Amending Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-Family Residence 

Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of the Lincolnshire Village Code 

 

Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole January 9, 2017 

Committee of the Whole February 27, 2017 

Committee of the Whole May 8, 2017 

Committee of the Whole August 7, 2017 

Architectural Review Board November 8, 2017 

Architectural Review Board November 21, 2017 

Architectural Review Board January 16, 2018 

Zoning Board February 13, 2018 

Architectural Review Board September 4, 2018 

Zoning Board September 12, 2018 

Zoning Board January 8, 2019 

Committee of the Whole January 28, 2019 

Committee of the Whole August 26, 2019 

Zoning Board October 10, 2019 

Committee of the Whole November 11, 2019 

Regular Village Board November 25, 2019 
 



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE   
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
TITLE 6, CHAPTERS 5A (R1, R2 AND R3 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICTS) AND  

5B (R2A SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT) OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire is an Illinois home rule municipal corporation organized and 

operating under the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees (the "Corporate Authorities") find that maintaining the 

character of established residential neighborhoods protects property values and enhances the aesthetic quality 

of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities find that the Village can help maintain the character of 

established residential neighborhoods by reducing the floor area ratio in the R1 and R2 Single-Family 

Residence Districts, and implementing square footage maximums for single-family residential homes in the 

R1, R2, R2A, and R3 Single-Family Residence Districts; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities referred certain amendments of the Zoning Code (“Text 

Amendments”) to the Zoning Board for the purpose of maintaining the character of established residential 

neighborhoods by reducing the floor area ratio in the R1 and R2 zoning districts, and implementing square 

footage maximums in the R1, R2, R2A, and R2 zoning districts, attached hereto as Exhibit B; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on the Text Amendments was duly publicized on September 21, 2019, 

in the Daily Herald and was held by the Zoning Board on October 10, 2019, on which date the Zoning Board 

voted in favor of not recommending approval of the Text Amendments; and   

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees affirm their desire to amend Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, 

R2 and R3 Single-Family Residence Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of the 

Lincolnshire Village Code (“Village Code”) to maintain established residential neighborhood character; and 

WHEREAS, Section 2-6-5 (Reports and Recommendations) of the Village Code requires any 

application which fails to receive an approval recommendation of the Zoning Board must include written 

findings based upon the items set forth in Chapter 14 of Title 6 and must receive a favorable vote of two-thirds 

(2/3) of all the elected members of the Village Board of Trustees to be approved. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of 



 
Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as follows: 

SECTION 1. Recitals; Findings. The preamble to this Ordinance expresses the Village’s purpose 

and intent for enacting this amendment to the Village Code and it is the intent of the Mayor and Board of 

Trustees for this Ordinance to be liberally construed to most effectively accomplish the purposes described 

above.  The Corporate Authorities also hereby adopt the findings of fact attached hereto as Exhibit A in support 

of the amendments enacted by this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. Code Amendment. Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-Family Residence 

Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of the Village Code are hereby amended in the 

manner described in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated as though fully recited herein. The changes 

are shown as additions described with underlines and deletions described with strikeouts. Language which is 

omitted from Exhibit B is not intended to be changed. 

SECTION 3. Severability. In the event any provision or application of the Village Code enacted by 

this Ordinance is found to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the intent of the Village Board that all other 

applications and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect to the extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 4. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective following its adoption and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

SO ORDAINED this   day of  , 2019, at Lincolnshire, Lake County, 

Illinois. 

AYES: 
 

NAYS: 
 

ABSENT: 
 

APPROVED: 
 
               

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 
Published by me in pamphlet form 
 
 
this     day of       , 20   .



 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT FOR A TEXT AMENDMENT 

 
[ATTACHED]



FINDINGS OF FACT TEXT AMENDMENT 
Village of Lincolnshire – Bulk Regulations – Zoning 

1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health,
safety, and general welfare.

The request is to codify single-family residential bulk regulations with respect 
to floor area ratio (FAR) requirements. Reductions in FAR in the R1 and R2 
zoning district, as well as implementation of a square footage cap across the 
R1, R2, R2A, and R3 zoning districts will reduce potential home sizes for 
replacement homes, or “teardowns,” and ensure cohesive “neighborhood 
character” within each zoning district. Analysis of single family residential lot 
and home square footage data reveal minimal impact to existing homes that 
would become legally non-conforming if the proposed text amendments are 
approved. With approval of these proposed text amendments, the general 
welfare of Village residents would be promoted via cohesive “neighborhood 
character” by way of reduced FAR in the R1 and R2 zoning district, as well as 
implementation of a square footage cap across the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 
single-family zoning requirements. 

2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the
community.

The proposed amendments to FAR requirements would conserve property 
values throughout the community by ensuring predictable, consistent home 
sizes that contribute to “neighborhood character” and deter the construction of 
new homes which are disproportionate to and inconsistent with such 
established character and which diminish the property values of adjoining 
homes which are negatively affected thereby. The proposed FAR requirements 
would allow existing homes and structures in the residential zoning districts to 
remain intact with the creation of few non-conforming uses. These amendments 
would promote consistency in home sizes and preservation of property values. 

3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets
and highways.

The request will have no bearing on congestion in public streets and 
highways. 

Prepared by: 
Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director, Village of Lincolnshire 
October 4, 2019 



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 6, CHAPTERS 5A (R1, R2 AND R3 SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENCE DISTRICTS) AND 5B (R2A SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT) OF 

THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE 
 

[ATTACHED] 
 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 1 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

TITLE 6: ZONING 
 CHAPTER: 5 RESIDENCE DISTRICTS 

ARTICLE A: R1, R2 AND R3 SlNGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICTS 
 
 
SECTION: 
 
6-5A-1:   Permitted Uses 
6-5A-2:   Special Uses 
6-5A-3:   R1 Single-Family Residence District 
6-5A-4:   R2 Single-Family Residence District 
6-5A-5:   R3 Single-Family Residence District 
6-5A-6:   Off-Street Parking 
 
 
6-5A-1: PERMITTED USES: 
 
A. Single-family detached dwellings. 

 
B. Home occupation - as regulated in Section 6-5-3. 

 
C. Signs - as regulated in Title 12. 

 
D. Uses and buildings accessory to single-family detached dwellings. (Ord. 65-

138-15) 
 

E. Dog runs - as regulated in Section 6-5-4b. (Ord. 74-358-34) 
 

F. Community residential homes of less than four (4) persons. (Ord. 90-1182-66) 
 

G. Memorial Garden, as an accessory use to an assembly use, including, for 
example, religious institutions or schools; provided the memorial garden is not 
located in any required yards. (Amd. Ord. 08-3070-53, eff. 11/24/08) 
 

H. Short-Term Rental – as an accessory use to residential dwelling units and as 
regulated in Section 6-3-5 of this Title.(Amd. Ord. 15-3379-106, eff. 11/09/15) 

 
6-5A-2: SPECIAL USES: 
 
A. Art galleries, libraries and museums not operated for profit. 

 
B. Automobile parking lots open to the public or accessory to a use not 

permitted in the district. 
 

C. Churches. 
 

D. Golf courses - but not including commercially operated driving ranges or 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 2 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

miniature golf courses. 
 

E. Parks, playgrounds, recreational and community buildings. 
 

F. Public schools, elementary and high and private schools having a curriculum 
equivalent to a public elementary and having no rooms regularly used for 
housing or sleeping purposes; provided, however, no private kindergarten or 
nursery school shall be permitted except as otherwise provided in this Zoning 
Code. 
 

G. Public utility uses, including outside telephone pay booths and public 
transportation facilities such as shelters, terminals, parking areas, service 
building and turnarounds. 
 

H. Where a single-family detached dwelling with not less than four thousand 
(4,000) square feet of floor area is located on a lot not less than eighty 
thousand (80,000) square feet in area, a second dwelling unit located in an 
existing building accessory to the principal dwelling may be allowed for 
domestic help and provided that such second dwelling unit shall not contain 
living quarters for roomers, lodgers, or permanent guests. 
 

I. Temporary building and uses for construction purposes for a period not to 
exceed one year. (Ord. 65-138-15) 
 

J. Indoor Tennis Club. 
 

K. Nursery schools, when accessory to the use of a church or public school 
permitted under this Article, provided that the number of children in 
attendance at any one time is not in excess of twenty five (25), the building 
used for the nursery school meets the State requirements for such school and 
is located on a site of a minimum of four (4) acres with direct access to a 
major thoroughfare and adequate off-street parking. (Ord. 70-221-3) 
 

L. Planned Development, R3 Single-Family Residence District
1. Land Area: An area of not less than three (3) acres of which not less than 

thirty percent (30%) when fully developed will be devoted to commons. 
The commons area may not include paved surfaces. 
 

2. Permitted Uses and Special Uses: As in R1, R2, and R3 Single-Family 
Residence Districts. 
 

3. Lot Area: No requirement. 
 

4. Frontage: No requirement. 
 

5. Floor Area Ratio: No requirement. 
 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 3 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

6. Floor Area: 
 

a. General: Not less than one thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet. 
 

b. Ground Floor Area Per Dwelling: One-story dwelling - not less than one 
thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet. More than one - story 
dwelling -not less than eight hundred fifty (850) square feet. 

 
7. Building Height: As in R1, R2, and R3 Single-Family District. 

 
8. Yards:  

Front No requirement. 
Side No requirement. 
Rear No requirement. 
 

9. Density: See subsection 6-14-l4M of this Zoning Title. (Ord. 89-1042-09) 
 
M. Detached garage only in Historic District as defined herein. (Ord. 87-956-42) 

 
N. Memorial Assembly Facility: (Amd. Ord. 08-3070-53, eff. 11/24/08) 

 
1. Shall only be permitted as an accessory use to an assembly use, 

including, for example, religious institutions or schools. 
 

2. Shall be permitted 
 
a. inside the principle structure on the Lot, or 
b. as an accessory structure subject to compliance with the following 

design and setback standards: 
i. Shall be located not less than one-hundred feet (100=) from any 

Lot Line where there is Frontage; 
ii. Shall maintain a minimum distance of one hundred and thirty-

five feet (135=) from any Lot Line where there is no Frontage; 
iii. Shall be located not more than twenty feet (20=) from the 

principle structure on the Lot; 
iv. Shall comprise an area no greater than six hundred (600) square 

feet; 
v. The structure shall have a height not greater than three feet 

(3=); 
vi. The structure shall be concealed from the adjacent right-of-way 

and contiguous residential Lots with vegetation which provides 
complete screening during the entire year and shall be a 
minimum of six feet (6=) tall at the time of planting, but which 
vegetation shall not be considered part of the Memorial Assembly 
Facility for the purpose of measuring the permitted area thereof; 
and 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 4 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

vii. The face of the structure into which cremated human remains are 
interned must substantially face towards the principal structure 
to which it is accessory. 

 
6-5A-3: R1 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 
A. Site and Structure Provisions 

 
1. Minimum Lot Area. The lot area for each dwelling unit shall not be less 

than 80,000 square feet.  
 

2. Setback. The distance between the front lot line and the nearest 
supporting wall or portion of the structure on the lot shall not be less than 
50 feet nor more than 1/3 the depth of the average of the side lot lines. 
 

3. Frontage. The lot width of each zoning lot shall not be less than 150 feet. 
If the frontage of a lot is on a cul-de-sac, as defined in Section 7-1-4 of 
Title 7 of this Code, the frontage shall not be less than 55 feet. *(Refer to 
Section 6-5-1).  
 

4. Floor Area Requirement; Maximum Area Limitation. The maximum floor 
area ratio shall not exceed 0.1525 and the minimum floor area per 
dwelling unit shall not be less than 1,750 square feet. The maximum floor 
area of the entire dwelling shall not exceed the lesser of 13,000 square 
feet or the product of the lot area times the maximum FAR. The ground 
floor area of one story dwellings shall not be less than 1,750 square feet, 
or for dwellings with more than one story, the ground floor area shall not 
be less than 1,000 square feet.  
 

5. Building Height. The maximum building height shall be 22 stories or 40 
feet whichever is lower. Public buildings, churches, temples, colleges, or 
schools may be erected to a height not exceeding 60 feet. However if such 
building is located in any residence district it shall be set back from each 
property line at least one foot per each foot of additional building height 
above the limit for the district, in addition to the other requirements of 
this Zoning Code. This clause shall not be construed as modifying the 
other provisions of this Zoning Code limiting the use of property in any 
other district. 
 

6. Maximum Impervious Surface. The maximum impervious surface may not 
exceed 30% of the Gross Lot Area, notwithstanding whether the 
calculation of the Buildable Area for the subject Lot results in a larger area 
for permitted structures and uses. (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07)  
 

7. Where a setback greater than the minimum required front yard setback 
has been maintained for existing buildings on lots having frontage of 
seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the total frontage of that block, the 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 5 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

front yard setback for any new principal building, attached accessory 
building or building addition shall be no closer than the front yard setback 
established by the existing principal building on that side of that portion of 
that street with the least front yard setback, excluding existing principal 
buildings permitted by virtue of a variance to this regulation; provided 
that this regulation is not to be interpreted to permit a setback less than 
that required in the designated zoning district. Further, this regulation 
shall not apply to any building in a new subdivision for the first five (5) 
years from the approval of the Final Plat of Subdivision. (Amd Ord. 07-
2977-05, eff. 3/12/07)(Amd. Ord. 07-2999-27, eff. 7/23/07)  

 
B. Yard Requirements 

 
1. Front Yard. In the R1 District, the front yard shall not be less than 50 feet. 

 
2. Side Yards. Two side yards, each a minimum of 30 feet in width, shall be 

provided. *(Refer to Section 6-5-1) 
 

3. Rear Yard. In the R1 District, the rear yard shall not be less than 50 feet. 
 

4. Corner Side Yard. A side yard abutting a street shall not be less than 20 
feet in width. (Ord. Amd. 99-1619-03, eff. 1/11/99) 
 

5. Building Side Setback Plane. For all new single-family residential dwelling 
units and additions to existing single-family residential dwelling units, a 
ABuilding Side Setback Plane must be calculated, inside which said 
dwelling unit must be contained. The Building Side Setback Plane shall be 
measured beginning at ten feet (10') directly above the established grade 
on the Side Lot Line. (Ord. Amd. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 

 
6-5A-4: R2 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 
A. Site and Structure Provisions  
 

1. Minimum Lot Area. The lot area for each dwelling unit shall not be less 
than 40,000 square feet.  
 

2. Setback. The distance between the front lot line and the nearest 
supporting wall or portion of the structure on the lot shall not be less than 
40 feet nor more than 80 feet. 
 

3. Frontage. The lot width of each zoning lot shall not be less than 120 feet. 
If the frontage of a lot is one a cul-de-sac, as defined in Section 7-1-4 of 
Title 7 of this Code, the frontage shall not be less than 55 feet. *(Refer to 
Section 6-5-1) 
 

4. Floor Area Requirements; Maximum Area Limitation. The maximum floor 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 6 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

area ratio shall not exceed 0.1525 and the minimum floor area per 
dwelling unit shall not be less than 1,750 square feet. The maximum floor 
area of the entire dwelling shall not exceed the lesser of 8,000 square feet 
or the product of the lot area times the maximum FAR. The ground floor 
area of one story dwellings shall not be less than 1,750 square feet, or for 
dwellings with more than one story, the ground floor area shall not be less 
than 1,000 square feet. 
 

5. Building Height. The maximum building height shall be 22 stories or 35 
feet whichever is lower. Public buildings, churches, temples, colleges, or 
schools may be erected to a height not exceeding 60 feet. However if such 
building is located in any residence district it shall be set back from each 
property line at least one foot per each foot of additional building height 
above the limit for the district, in addition to the other requirements of 
this Zoning Code. This clause shall not be construed as modifying the 
other provisions of this Zoning Code limiting the use of property in any 
other district.  
 

6. Maximum Impervious Surface. The maximum impervious surface may not 
exceed 35% of the Gross Lot Area, notwithstanding whether the 
calculation of the Buildable Area for the subject Lot results in a larger area 
for permitted structures and uses. (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 
 

7. Where a setback greater than the minimum required front yard setback 
has been maintained for existing buildings on lots having frontage of 
seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the total frontage of that block, the 
front yard setback for any new principal building, attached accessory 
building or building addition shall be no closer than the front yard setback 
established by the existing principal building on that side of that portion of 
that street with the least front yard setback, excluding existing principal 
buildings permitted by virtue of a variance to this regulation; provided 
that this regulation is not to be interpreted to permit a setback less than 
that required in the designated zoning district. Further, this regulation 
shall not apply to any building in a new subdivision for the first five (5) 
years from the approval of the Final Plat of Subdivision. (Amd. Ord. 07-
2977-05, eff. 3/12/07) (Amd. Ord. 07-2999-27, eff. 7/23/07) 

 
B. Yard Requirements 
 

1. Front Yard. In the R2 District, the front yard shall not be less than 40 feet. 
 

2. Side Yards. Two side yards, each a minimum of 20 feet in width, shall be 
provided. *(Refer to Section 6-5-1) 
 

3. Rear Yard. In the R2 District, the rear yard shall not be less than 40 feet. 
 

4. Corner Side Yard. A side yard abutting a street shall not be less than 20 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 7 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

feet in width. (Ord. Amd. 99-1619-03, eff. 1/11/99) 
 

5. Building Side Setback Plane. For all new single-family residential dwelling 
units and additions to existing single-family residential dwelling units, a 
Building Side Setback Plane must be calculated, inside which said dwelling 
unit must be contained. The Building Side Setback Plane shall be 
measured beginning at ten feet (10') directly above the established grade 
on the Side Lot Line. (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 

 
6-5A-5: R3 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 
A. Site and Structure Provisions  
 

1. Minimum Lot Area. The lot area for each dwelling unit shall not be less 
than 20,000 square feet. 
 

2. Setback. The distance between the front lot line and the nearest 
supporting wall or portion of the structure on the lot shall not be less than 
30 feet nor more than 80 feet. 
 

3. Frontage. The lot width of each zoning lot shall not be less than 100 feet. 
If the frontage of a lot is one a cul-de-sac, as defined in Section 7-1-4 of 
Title 7 of this Code, the frontage shall not be less than 55 feet. *(Refer to 
Section 6-5-1) 
 

4. Floor Area Requirements; Maximum Area Limitation. The maximum floor 
area ratio shall not exceed 0.25 and the minimum floor area per dwelling 
unit shall not be less than 1,750 square feet. The maximum floor area of 
the entire dwelling shall not exceed the lesser of 5,500 square feet or the 
product of the lot area times the maximum FAR. The ground floor area of 
one story dwellings shall not be less than 1,750 square feet, or for 
dwellings with more than one story, the ground floor area shall not be less 
than 1,000 square feet. 
 

5. Building Height. The maximum building height shall be 2 stories or 30 
feet, whichever is lower. Public buildings, churches, temples, colleges, or 
schools may be erected to a height not exceeding 60 feet. However if such 
building is located in any residence district it shall be set back from each 
property line at least one foot per each foot of additional building height 
above the limit for the district, in addition to the other requirements of 
this Zoning Code. This clause shall not be construed as modifying the 
other provisions of this Zoning Code limiting the use of property in any 
other district.  
 

6. Maximum Impervious Surface. The maximum impervious surface may not 
exceed 40% of the Gross Lot Area, notwithstanding whether the 
calculation of the Buildable Area for the subject Lot results in a larger area 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 8 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

for permitted structures and uses. (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 
 

7. Where a setback greater than the minimum required front yard setback 
has been maintained for existing buildings on lots having frontage of 
seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the total frontage of that block, the 
front yard setback for any new principal building, attached accessory 
building or building addition shall be no closer than the front yard setback 
established by the existing principal building on that side of that portion of 
that street with the least front yard setback, excluding existing principal 
buildings permitted by virtue of a variance to this regulation; provided 
that this regulation is not to be interpreted to permit a setback less than 
that required in the designated zoning district. Further, this regulation 
shall not apply to any building in a new subdivision for the first five (5) 
years from the approval of the Final Plat of Subdivision. (Amd Ord. 07-
2977-05, eff. 3/12/07)(Amd. Ord. 07-2999-27, eff. 7/23/07)  

 
B. Yard Requirements 
 

1. Front Yard. In the R3 District, the front yard shall not be less than 30 feet. 
 

2. Side Yards. Two side yards, each a minimum of 10 feet in width shall be 
provided. (Ord. Amd. 04-1934-50, eff.11/8/04) 
 

3. Rear Yard. In the R3 District, the rear yard shall not be less than 30 feet. 
 
4. Corner Side Yard. A side yard abutting a street shall not be less than 20 

feet in width. If a corner lot, duly recorded prior to the effective date of 
this Zoning Code, has insufficient width to provide a side yard 20 feet in 
width and still maintain a buildable with of 27 feet, then the side yard 
abutting the street may be reduced in width to permit a building width of 
27 feet, provided such side yard is not less than five feet in width. (Ord. 
Amd. 99-1619-03, eff. 1/11/99) 

 
5. Building Side Setback Plane. For all new single-family residential dwelling 

units and additions to existing single-family residential dwelling units, a 
Building Side Setback Plane must be calculated, inside which said dwelling 
unit must be contained. The Building Side Setback Plane shall be 
measured beginning at 10= directly above the Side Lot Line. (Ord. Amd. 
04-1934-50, eff.11/8/04)  

 
6-5A-6: OFF-STREET PARKING: Parking spaces in accordance with provisions set 

forth in Section 6-11-3 of this Zoning Code. (Ord. 65-138-15) 
 
  



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 1 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

TITLE 6: ZONING 
CHAPTER 5: RESIDENCE DISTRICTS 

ARTICLE B: R2A SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 
 

SECTION: 
 

6-5B-1: Intent 
6-5B-2: Permitted Uses 
6-5B-3: Special Uses 
6-5B-4: Lot Area, Setback and Height Requirements 
6-5B-5: Yard Requirements 
6-5B-6: Site Plan Review Process 
6-5B-6-1: Policy Phase 
6-5B-6-2: Technical Phase 
6-5B-7: Environmental and Comprehensive Policies Plan Criteria 

 
 

6-5B-1: INTENT: The R2A Single-Family Residence District is designed to permit the 
development of environmentally sensitive large lot areas through the 
application responsible environmental ad other planning criteria. The intent is 
to encourage a creative approach to the use of land, preserve natural 
vegetation, topographic and geologic features, enhance the appearance of the 
neighborhoods by the conservation of forested areas, water bodies and the 
preservation of natural vegetation and wildlife and advance the various 
Lincolnshire planning policies outlined in the Official Comprehensive Policies 
Plan. Specific environmental and planning criteria will be applied through the 
site plan review process. 

 
6-5B-2: PERMITTED USES: In the R2A Single-Family Residence District no building 

or land shall be used and no building shall be erected except for one or more 
of the following specified uses, unless otherwise provided in this Article. 

 
A. Single-family dwellings. 

 
B. Parks, forest preserves, hiking and bicycle trails. 

 
C. Educational Institutions (non-boarding). 

 
D. Accessory uses and buildings incidental to and on the same zoning lot as a 

principal use, as follows: 
 

1. Athletic fields and playgrounds. 
2. Attached garages. 
3. Greenhouses and conservatories for private use. 

 
4. Swimming pools. 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 2 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

5. Storage of building materials and equipment, fences and temporary 
buildings for construction purposes, for a period not to exceed the 
duration of such construction. No accessory use or building shall be 
located in areas of the building lot which are reserved by deed restriction 
for preservation of natural environment or are otherwise restricted. (Ord. 
77-470-4) 

 
E. Community residential homes of less than four (4) persons. (Ord. 90-1182-

66) 
 

F. Memorial Garden, as an accessory use to an assembly use, including, for 
example, religious institutions or schools; provided the memorial garden is 
not located in any required yards. (Amd. Ord. 08-3070-53, eff. 11/24/08) 

 
G. Short-Term Rental, as an accessory use to residential dwelling units and as 

regulated in section 6-3-5 of this Title. (Amd. Ord. 15-3379-106, eff. 
11/09/15) 

 
6-5B-3: SPECIAL USES: 

 
A. Churches and religious institutions. 
 
B. Deleted by Ord. 11-3205-27, eff. 6/13/11) 

  
C. Cemeteries. 
 
D. Rest homes. 

 
E. Golf courses (but not golf driving ranges, pitch and putt or miniature golf 

courses). 
 
F. Cultural institutions, including: 

 
1. Public libraries. 
2.  Public museums. 

 
G. Publicly owned utilities, and civic buildings as follows: 

 
1. Fire station. 
2. Police station. 
3. Post office. 
4. Municipal offices and buildings. 

 
H. Noncommercial recreational and social facilities, as follows: 

 
1. Recreation clubs, including grounds (excluding hunt or gun clubs). 
2. Community centers. 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 3 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

3. Deleted by Ord. 11-3205-27, eff. 6/13/11) 
 

I. Planned single-family residential developments. 
 

J. Horticulture, nature preserves, arboretum and agriculture (except animal 
husbandry, mushroom farming, retail sales, and any other agricultural use 
deemed noxious by the Zoning Administrator. (Ord. 77-470-4) 

 
K. Detached garage only in an Historic District, as defined herein. (Ord. 87-956-

42) 
 

L. Memorial Assembly Facility: (Amd. Ord. 08-3070-53, eff. 11/24/08) 
 

1. Shall only be permitted as an accessory use to an assembly use, 
including, for example, religious institutions or schools. 

 
 2. Shall be permitted  

a. inside the principle structure on the Lot, or 
b. as an accessory structure subject to compliance with the  

   following design and setback standards: 
i. Shall be located not less than one-hundred feet (100’) from any 

Lot Line where there is Frontage; 
ii. Shall maintain a minimum distance of one hundred and thirty-five 

feet (135’) from any Lot Line where there is no Frontage; 
iii. Shall be located not more than twenty feet (20’) from the principle 

structure on the Lot; 
iv. Shall comprise an area no greater than six hundred (600) square 

feet; 
v. The structure shall have a height not greater than three feet (3’); 
vi. The structure shall be concealed from the adjacent right-of-way 

and contiguous residential Lots with vegetation which provides 
complete screening during the entire year and shall be a minimum 
of six feet (6’) tall at the time of planting, but which vegetation 
shall not be considered part of the Memorial Assembly Facility for 
the purpose of measuring the permitted area thereof; and 

vii. The face of the structure into which cremated human remains are 
interned must substantially face towards the principal structure to 
which it is accessory. 

 
6-5B-4: LOT AREA, SETBACK AND HEIGHT REQUIREMENTS: 
 
A. Density for Single-Family Residential Use: Allowable density on each tract of 

land shall be five-tenths (0.5) to one dwelling unit per acre. However, where 
specific elements of the Comprehensive Policies Plan are being significantly 
advanced, the Zoning Board may recommend and the Village Board may 
approve density premiums to permit densities up to one and one-quarter 
(1.25) units per acre. Density premiums shall be granted only where the 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 4 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

petitioner shows special attention to protection and preservation of natural 
environmental resources and where the proposed development significantly 
advances the policy objectives of the Official Comprehensive Policies Plan of 
the Village. 

 
The determination of final density on each tract shall be a subject of the site 
plan review process in accordance with environmental and planning criteria 
provided for herein. Final density shall be as set forth on the zoning site plan 
as approved by the Village Board. 

 
B. Lot Area: 
 

1. Single Family: Lot area may vary within this District in order to achieve 
creative lot design and protect the environmental resources of each tract 
of land. Lot area shall be determined through the site plan review process 
in accordance with environmental and planning criteria and with the 
following: 

 
a. In no case shall lots be smaller than twenty thousand (20,000) square 

feet in area, and, 
 

b.  Average lot size on any individual tract shall not be less than twenty 
two thousand (22,000) square feet in area. (Individual tract being 
defined as being under single ownership and being developed under a 
single plan of development.) (Ord. 77-470-4) 

 
c. Frontage: No less than one hundred feet (100') unless the frontage of 

a lot is on a cul-de-sac, as defined in Section 7-1-4 of Title 7 of this 
Code, the frontage shall be not less than fifty five feet (55'). (Ord. 88-
978-10) 

 
2. The determination of preliminary lot area shall be a subject of the site 

plan review process in accordance with environmental and planning 
criteria provided for herein. Final lot area and design in the R2A Zone shall 
be establish-ed as part of the subdivision plat process. Final lot area and 
design shall however substantially conform in layout, area and design to 
the preliminary lots shown on the zoning site plan. 

 
3. Uses Other than Single-Family: 

 
a. Permitted Uses: 

Park, forest preserves no size limitations  

Horticulture and agriculture 5 acres 
 

Educational institutions with 10  



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 5 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

or more self-contained 
classrooms  10 acres 

 
Educational institutions with  
less than 10 self-contained  
classrooms   5 acres 

 
b.  Special Uses: 

             Suggested Lot Size 
Churches    2 acres 

 
Cemeteries  10 acres 

 
Rest homes   3 acres 

 
Golf courses  20 acres 

 
Cultural institutions 3 acres 

 
Public utilities and services 0.5 acres   
Recreational and social  
(non-commercial) 2 acres 

 
Planned developments residential 5 acres 

 
C. Building Height: The maximum building height shall be two and one-half (2-

1/2) stories or thirty five feet (35') whichever is lower. 
 
D. Property Line Setbacks from Major Roads: The property line shall be set back 

as follows in all mature forested areas: 
 

1. Riverwoods Road, one hundred sixty five feet (165') from center line. 
 

2. Half Day Road, one hundred eighty five feet (185') from center line. 
 

3. For other major roads designated by the Zoning Board, the setback to the 
property line from the center line shall be no less than one hundred 
twenty five feet (125'). However, the Zoning Board may recommend and 
the Village Board may approve up to a twenty percent (20%) variation in 
the above property line setbacks in order to accommodate Comprehensive 
Policies Plan and environmental preservation objectives, and may approve 
other variances on parcels of ten (10) acres or less to alleviate hardship 
situations or other unusual circumstances. 

 
E. Floor Area Requirements; Maximum Area Limitation. The maximum floor area 

ratio shall not exceed 0.25 and the minimum floor area per dwelling unit shall 
not be less than 1,750 square feet. The maximum floor area of the entire 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 6 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

dwelling shall not exceed the lesser of 7,000 square feet or the product of the 
lot area times the maximum FAR. The ground floor area of a one story 
dwelling shall not be less than 1,750 square feet, or for dwellings with more 
than one story, the ground floor area shall not be less than 1,000 square feet. 
(Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 

 
F. Building Side Setback Plane. For all new single-family residential dwelling 

units and additions to existing single-family residential dwelling units, a 
Building Side Setback Plane must be calculated, inside which said dwelling 
unit must be contained. The Building Side Setback Plane shall be measured 
beginning at ten feet (10') directly above the established grade on the Side 
Lot Line. (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 

 
G. Where a setback greater than the minimum required front yard setback has 

been maintained for existing buildings on lots having frontage of seventy-five 
percent (75%) or more of the total frontage of that block, the front yard 
setback for any new principal building, attached accessory building or building 
addition shall be no closer than the front yard setback established by the 
nearest existing principal building on that side of that portion of that street; 
provided that this regulation is not to be interpreted to permit a setback less 
than that required in the designated zoning district. Further, this regulation 
shall not apply to any building in a new subdivision for the first five (5) years 
from the approval of the Final Plat of Subdivision. (Amd Ord. 07-2977-05, eff. 
3/12/07) 

 
6-5B-5: YARD REQUIREMENTS: Yard requirements shall be as follows: 
 
A. Single-Family Residential: 
 

1. Front Yard and side yard abutting a street: 20 feet 
 

(Except when an attached garage protrudes into the required front yard or corner side yard, 
the garage portion of the structure may extend up to 10 feet into the required front yard or 
corner side yard.) (Amd. Ord. 07-2973-01B, eff. 1/22/07) 

 
2. Side Yard      10 feet 

 
3. Rear Yard      35 feet 

 
4. Corner Side     20 feet 

 
B.  All other uses involving buildings or structures: 

 
1. Front yard and side yard abutting  

 a street     50 feet 
 

2. Side yard      20 feet 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 7 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

 
3. Rear yard      75 feet 

 
 

6-5B-6: SITE PLAN REVIEW PROCESS: 
 

A. Applicability: Applications or petitions for R2A zoning for tracts of land five (5) 
acres or greater or where approval of a density greater than one-half (2) 
dwelling unit per acre is requested, shall be subject to the site plan review 
process. 

 
B. Purpose: Whereas the proper maintenance and use of areas of high 

environmental value are important to the physical, aesthetic, recreational and 
economic well-being of present and future residents, and whereas each tract 
and its environmental resources are unique, each zoning permit application 
shall be reviewed on an individual basis. 

 
C. Review Responsibility: Each application shall be reviewed in accordance with 

the procedures and standards contained in this Section, and in accordance 
with criteria contained herein and established from time to time by the Zoning 
Board and approved by the Village Board. 

 
The Community Development Department shall have responsibility for the site 
plan review process. The Village Manager shall utilize the services of the 
Community Development Department and various other Village Departments 
including the Village Attorney as well as the local Fire District for technical and 
advisory aspects of the site plan review in accordance with normal Zoning 
Board operating procedures. 

 
D. Procedure for Site Plan Review: Site plan review process for the R2A Zoning 

District shall occur in two (2) phases; a policy phase, and a technical phase 
which includes the steps involved in subdivision platting. Zoning approval 
shall be evidenced by acceptance of a zoning site plan by the Village Board at 
the end of the policy phase. However, no land clearance, grading or 
construction shall commence until acceptance of a final subdivision plat, and 
the issuance of individual lot development permits and building permits in 
accordance with the provisions hereinafter set forth and other applicable 
Village ordinances. 

 
E. Application: Applications for each phase shall be made on forms provided by 

the Community Development Department and shall be accompanied by the 
required plans and documents. The application at each phase shall be 
submitted to and certified by the Community Development Department as 
being complete and in proper form. 

 
 

6-5B-6-1: POLICY PHASE: 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 8 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

 
A. Step 1. Pre-application Conference: Prior to filing a formal application for a 

zoning permit, the applicant shall request a preliminary conference with the 
Community Development Department. 

 
1.  At the pre-application conference, the developer shall present, at a 

minimum, the following material: 
 

Written description of the proposed development and proposed design 
team. 

 
Area and specific location maps and surrounding land-use maps. 

 
Title information regarding ownership of all the land including full 
disclosure of all beneficiaries of any land trust involved and full disclosure 
of all partners in any general or limited partnership, with supporting 
documentation. 
 
Topographic map available at five foot (5') intervals. 
 
Sketch plans and concepts regarding land-use, site design, access, street 
layout, surface drainage and utility service. 
 
Aerial photograph at a four hundred foot (400') scale or larger. 

 
2. The Community Development Department shall determine and advise the 

applicant of required material, data and plans to be submitted in Step 2, 
Zoning Site Plan Review and Public Hearing. The Community Development 
Department shall further advise the applicant of Comprehensive Policies 
Plan objectives which may affect the tract of land in question and any 
other issues of particular concern to the Community Development 
Department. 

 
B. Step 2: Zoning Site Plan Review and Public Hearing: An application with all 

accompanying material as designated herein and as may be required at the 
conclusion of Step 1 shall be submitted to the Community Development 
Department who shall certify the submittal as complete and in proper form. 
The Community Development Department shall forward the application to the 
Zoning Board for the consideration of Zoning Board subcommittees, Village 
staff, Village advisory bodies and other affected governmental bodies. 

 
1. Prior to the public hearing, the Zoning Board may provide the applicant 

with the opportunity to present his proposed development. After such 
presentation, the Village development staff shall prepare a written review 
of the proposed site plan and supporting plans and concepts. After the 
Zoning Board has completed its preliminary review and studied the staff 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 9 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

report, it shall hold a public hearing on the proposed site plan in 
accordance with its normal public hearing procedures. 

 
2. The applicant shall submit the following material for this phase of the site 

plan review: 
 

General development information. 
 
Housing designs, materials, prototype floor plans. 
 
Market information including bedroom mix, price range, targeted 
purchasers and marketing concept. 
 
Land purchase agreements if not owner of record. 

Site plan and environmental protection concepts.  

Engineering concepts. 

Description of variations to the subdivision improvement regulations 
requested, if any. 

 
Aerial surveys at a scale of one hundred feet equals one inch (1" 100'). 

 
Other data, maps, surveys or plans as may be required for the review of 
the various studies outlined in Section 6-5B-6-1A. 

 
3. The Zoning Board shall hold a public hearing in accordance with Section 6-

14-3 of this Zoning Code. 
 

4. Following the public hearing and review of the development staff report 
the Zoning Board shall submit its findings and recommendations to the 
Village Board. Findings of fact will be submitted in written form and 
include recommendations to approve the zoning permit, approve with 
conditions or deny the application. Such recommendations may include 
those specific engineering and environmental studies beyond those 
required in the subdivision regulations which are found necessary and 
reasonable to properly manage the development of the site given unique 
site characteristics, variations from the subdivision regulations requested 
by the applicant or recommended by the Zoning Board, and shall include a 
designation of that area for which a detailed tree survey shall be required, 
if any. 

 
C. Step 3. Village Board Approval or Denial: The Village Board shall grant zoning 

permit approval, conditional approval or shall disapprove the zoning site plan. 
This approval shall constitute zoning approval only. It does not constitute 
subdivision, lot development or building permit approval 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 10 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

 
6-5B-6-2:  TECHNICAL PHASE: The technical phase involves four steps: (1) submission 

of detailed studies; (2) approval of the preliminary subdivision plat (with such 
additional studies as recommended by the Zoning Board); (3) approval of the 
final plat; and (4) approval of individual lot development plans and issuance 
of lot development permits. The technical phase shall occur simultaneously 
with and be closely coordinated with the subdivision plat approval process. 

 
A. Step 1: Detailed Engineering and Environmental Studies. 

 
1. As part of the submission of a preliminary subdivision plat, the applicant 

shall submit the following detailed studies to the Village Manager: 
 

A survey, mapped and drawn to a scale of fifty feet equals one inch (1" = 
50') of all trees eight inches (8") or more in diameter measured fifty four 
inches (54") from the ground. Each such tree shall be noted as to location, 
size, species and general condition. The survey shall be prepared by an 
approved forester and shall encompass that area designated by the 
Zoning Board in Section 6-5B-6-1B4. 
 
Topographic survey showing existing and proposed contours at one foot 
(1') intervals. 
 
A plan showing all existing utilities including sanitary sewers, water and 
gas mains, telephone and electric lines. 
 
A plan showing the location of all existing drainage systems, natural and 
man-made, which influence the site. This plan should include information 
on drainage to and from adjacent parcels to the extent that they may be 
affected by the proposed drainage concepts proposed for the subject site. 
 
Natural resource and ecological studies of marsh, wetlands, ponds or 
other water bodies completed by a professional in the natural sciences 
approved by the Village Manager when such studies are deemed 
appropriate as part of the policy phase deliberation. 

 
2. The Zoning Board may require the submission of additional detailed 

studies as they deem appropriate, and/or may waive the requirement of 
submitting a particular study or studies as set forth herein. 

 
3.  The Village Manager shall refer these studies to members of the Village 

development staff for review to assure the substantial compliance of the 
preliminary subdivision plat to the zoning site plan. 

 
B. Step 2: Approval of a Preliminary Plat by the Village Board: The applicant 

shall submit a preliminary plat to the Zoning Board in accordance with the 
procedures contained in the Title 7 (Subdivisions and Land Development) of 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 11 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

the Lincolnshire Village Code of the Village1. The preliminary plat shall 
conform in substance to the approved zoning site plan. The preliminary plat 
shall contain all items and attachments required in the Subdivision Code and, 
in addition, the following: 

 
1. Location and extent of all deed restricted portions of individual lots 

showing those areas of each lot which shall remain in a natural and 
undisturbed state. 

 
2. Preliminary engineering drawings for the entire parcel at a level of detail 

to be determined by the Village Engineer. (Final engineering plans and 
specifications shall be submitted for "units" representing successive 
phases of the development.) 

 
3. Designation on each lot of the construction envelope which shall be that 

area where construction activity and ingress and egress to the building 
site shall be permitted. 

 
4. Designation of that area to be covered by deed restrictions, if any 
 
5. A phasing plan identifying units of the proposed subdivision and the 

sequence of staging of these units. 
 
6. Documentation of the type of corrective actions to be taken on trees 

within or along the edge of the construction envelope that may be 
damaged or adversely impacted by the construction process. 

 
7. Documentation that the developer will fence the construction envelope of 

each lot. 
 
8. The Zoning Board shall, following receipt of the preliminary plat, submit 

its recommendations to the Village Board in accordance with the 
provisions of the Subdivision Code. 

 
9. Upon receipt of the preliminary plat, and any attachments thereto, from 

the Zoning Board along with their written recommendations, the Village 
Board shall approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the 
preliminary plat in accordance with the Subdivision Code. 

 
C.   Step 3: Approval of the Final Plat: 
 

                                                 
 
   1See Title 7 of this Village Code 
 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 12 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

1. The Zoning Board shall, following receipt of the final plat, submit its 
recommendations to the Village Board in accordance with the provisions 
of the Subdivision Code. 

 
2. Upon receipt of the final plat, and any attachments thereto, from the 

Zoning Board along with their written recommendations, the Village Board 
shall approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the final plat in 
accordance with the Subdivision Code. 

 
D. Step 4: Individual Lot Development Plans and Permit: Prior to issuance of a 

building permit and prior to any lot preparation whatsoever, the applicant 
shall apply for a lot development permit and file a lot development plan for 
review and approval. This final step in the site plan review process shall take 
place after approval of a final subdivision plat for a portion of the subdivision 
or for the entire subdivision. 

 
1. Application: The applicant shall submit six (6) copies of a lot development 

plan for each lot to the Village Manager. The Village Manager shall refer 
the lot plan to the Village Engineer and Village Forester for their review 
and approval. 

 
 No lot development permit or building permit shall be issued for any lot 

within the R2A Zoning District without the signature of the Village 
Engineer and Village Forester on the face of the lot development plan 
indicating approval. 

 
2. Designation of Lot Activity Areas: The lot development plan shall locate 

the activity zones of each lot delineating: 
 

a. The building and grading area. 
 

b. The construction envelope. 
 

c. The deed restricted area, if any. 
 

The building and grading area shall be restricted to: 
 

a. The building pad area. 
 

b. An area not to exceed the greater of that area fifteen feet (15') 
immediately beyond the building pad or that area necessary to 
comply with the final plat. 

 
c. The area proposed to be used as the driveway and for necessary 

utility lines. 
 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 13 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

The construction envelope shall be that area needed for the 
movement and placement of equipment and material to be used in 
the construction of the dwelling unit. It shall be as small as possible 
but include the entire building and grading area. The construction 
envelope shall be placed so as to minimize tree damage. 
 
Any deed restricted undisturbed area shall be located on each lot to 
blend into the restricted areas of adjacent lots. The undisturbed areas 
should extend the entire length of the lot wherever this is feasible in 
the overall design of the subdivision. 

 
3. Data to be Included: The lot development plan shall be drawn at a scale of 

one inch equals fifty feet (1" = 50') and include the following information: 
 

Existing contours at one foot (1') intervals. 
 
The location of all trees eight inches (8") or more in diameter measured 
fifty four inches (54") from the ground within the construction envelope 
and fifteen feet (15') beyond, and an indication of all such trees proposed 
to be removed. 
 
The location of all existing and proposed streets, driveways, easements 
and rights of way. 
 
The location of all existing and proposed utilities including sewers, water 
mains, gas lines, telephone service lines and electric service lines. 
 
The location of all existing and proposed drainage across, to and from the 
lot. The proposed location of all drainage structures such as culverts, 
swales, ditches, etc. The proposed location of sump pump discharge. 
 
The location and extent of areas to be graded or filled. 
 
The location of snow fencing or other suitable protective barriers to be 
placed around and within the construction envelope to protect trees and 
avoid unnecessary soil compaction. 
 
Statement of earliest starting date for lot grading. 
 
Statement that no tree shall be removed by bulldozing and that all trees 
to be removed will be cut and the stumps ground with a stump remover. 

 
4. Lot Development Permit: No lot grading or removal of any vegetation shall 

take place without an approved lot development plan and a lot 
development permit issued by the Village is displayed at each lot. Work 
will proceed only after the appropriate inspections as indicated on the lot 
development permit. 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 14 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

 
5. A copy of the approved lot development plan shall be kept at the lot 

during the time that lot development work is underway. 
 

The Village Forester shall make the necessary inspections required to 
check compliance with the lot development plan. The schedule of 
inspections and a place for signature indicating satisfactory inspection 
shall be on the face of the lot development permit. 
 
The first inspection shall be required after the building corners are staked, 
grading area marked, driveway located and snow fencing or other suitable 
protective barrier put in place but prior to any clearing of vegetation or 
grading. The second inspection shall be made after rough grading is 
complete. Excess excavation spoil, as determined by the Village Forester, 
shall be removed from the forested portions of a project. The third 
inspection shall be made when all lot development work is complete. 
 
Where it is found that the condition of the lot or progress of lot 
development work does not conform to the approved lot development 
plan, the Village Forester shall issue a stop work order. No building permit 
shall be issued until after the second inspection has been made and 
approved by the Village Forester. 

 
6. Final Grading: All finished grading shall be performed by the developer 

prior to issuance of an occupancy permit, and in accordance with Village 
standards and an approved grading plan. 

 
6-5B-7: ENVIRONMENTAL AND COMPREHENSIVE POLICIES PLAN CRITERIA: 

The following criteria shall be used in evaluating the zoning site plan, 
preliminary plat and lot development plan for each tract within the R2A Zone. 
The purpose of these criteria is to promote the preservation of trees and 
natural vegetation, to preserve unique natural features, to prevent flooding 
and drainage problems, to maintain vistas, to provide for open space, park 
and recreation areas and to promote the implementation of the Official 
Comprehensive Policies Plan of the Village. The Zoning Board and Village 
development staff shall utilize this criteria in its review of the zoning site plan, 
preliminary plats and lot development plans. Final site density shall depend 
upon the extent to which each development proposal satisfies the 
environmental criteria and promotes policy objectives of the Comprehensive 
Policies Plan. In utilizing these criteria the Zoning Board shall give 
consideration to the unique environmental and locational characteristics of the 
tract of land. 

 
A. Environmental Criteria: 

 
1. Maximum tree preservation in forested areas including design treatment 

to minimize tree damage and removal, the location of open space to 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 15 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

protect tree and tree rehabilitation commitments where unavoidable 
damage is likely to occur. 

 
2. The amount and location of open space, dedicated or otherwise reserved, 

and the extent to which it is used to protect unique natural features and 
vistas. At a minimum, five percent (5%) of the site shall be dedicated 
open space at one-half (2) unit per acre; ten percent (10%) at one unit 
per acre and fifteen percent (15%) for densities above one unit per acre. 
However the Zoning Board can recommend and the Village Board can 
approve a cash donation in lieu of the required open space or a portion 
thereof. Park land should abut existing parks or open space wherever 
possible. 

 
3. Forested areas and areas containing unique natural features or 

constituting important natural habitats should be protected by deed 
restrictions wherever possible keeping such lands in a natural undisturbed 
state. 

 
4. Areas of poor visual impact due to exposure to major roads or 

disharmonious land uses should be screened by the use of berming and 
landscaped with natural vegetative materials. 

 
5. A variety of site design techniques including variable yards, moderate 

clustering and variable lot size should be used to create large undeveloped 
areas within the development. 

 
6. Ponds, streams and wetlands should be preserved in their natural 

condition and included as part of dedicated open space wherever feasible 
and advisable. 

 
7. Steep slopes should be protected from development. 
 
8. In forested areas, drainage improvements should be designed so as to 

minimize any change in the existing groundwater level. 
 

9. In forested areas, engineering improvements should be concentrated into 
as narrow a corridor as is consistent with current engineering standards so 
that clearing of wooded rights of way can be minimized. 

 
B. Comprehensive Policies Plan Objectives: 
 

1. For subdivisions of forty (40) acres or more in total area, the density 
should decrease as the distance from major State or County collector or 
arterial highways increases. 
 

2. All aspects of the development proposal, including site design, street 
layout and design, engineering, land use, housing character, landscape 
treatment, conservation measures and the treatment of community 



 
 
Village of Lincolnshire Page 16 Title 6-5 
  Revised 11/09/2015XX/XX/XXXX 
 

         

facilities such as parks and schools, should be consistent with and advance 
the objectives contained within the Official Comprehensive Policies Plan of 
the Village. Particular emphasis should be placed on advancing the plan's 
open space strategy and upon the following: 

 
The preservation in a natural state of forested land. 
 
The provision of bikeway and pedestrian ways linked to the Village's 
system. 
 
Property lines of lots to be subdivided should be substantially set back 
from all major roads. While minimum setbacks are required, additional 
setbacks should be included wherever possible. 
 
The preservation of semirural vistas of open meadows and woodlots 
should be given design consideration. 

 
The provision for park improvements in addition to dedicated or otherwise 
reserved open space. 
 
Open space in the form of nature preserves as well as parks should be 
included as integral parts of residential neighborhoods. 
 
Conformance with the transportation and road plan elements. 
 
Maintaining the visual character of Village and County roads. 
 
The coordination of development with School Districts 103 and 125, 
expansion and program objectives. 
 
The avoidance of highway commercial land uses along Route 22 and 
Riverwoods Road and all local roads. 
 
The development of estate, large lot residential and very low density 
single-family cluster developments in areas designated as 
"environmentally sensitive residential areas". 
 
Developments should be as nearly self-sustaining as possible in terms of 
their Municipal cost-revenue effect. (Ord. 77-470-4). 



 

Agenda Item 

7.7 RVB 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Regular Village Board 

November 25, 2019 

 

Subject: Professional Service Agreements for Fiscal Year 2020  

 

Action Requested: Approval of Professional Services Agreements as Detailed in the 

Budget for Fiscal Year 2020 

 

Originated By/Contact: Brad Burke, Village Manager 

Jack Cascone, Administrative Intern 

 

Referred To:  Village Board 

 

 

Summary / Background 

As part of the annual budget consideration process, staff reviews all professional service 

agreements for the Village. A comprehensive list of all agreements for the coming fiscal year 

is included in the proposed Fiscal Year 2020 budget for review and is also attached. The 

proposed budget has been made available to the public for review on the Village’s website 

and at the Vernon Area Public Library since early October. Expenses related to the coming 

year’s agreements are reflected in the 2020 proposed budget which has been considered by 

the Village Board at October 16 and 24 budget workshops. This comprehensive list of 

agreements is annually approved along with approval of the budget for each fiscal year.  

 

New professional services or agreements proposed throughout the year are brought to the 

Village Board for consideration in accordance with the Village’s purchasing and procurement 

policies and procedures. 

 

Budget Impact  

All professional service agreements have been budgeted within various line items of the 

Fiscal Year 2020 budget, as are the respective increases or decreases.  

 

Service Delivery Impact 

The new or renewed professional service agreements are anticipated to maintain or enhance 

service delivery, as communicated and contemplated during the Special Committee of the 

Whole budget workshops. 

 

Recommendation  

Approval of Professional Service Agreements for Fiscal Year 2020. 

 

Reports and Documents Attached 

 List of Professional Service Agreements by Department. 

 

Meeting History 

Special Committee of the Whole – 

Budget Workshop 

October 16, 2019 

October 24, 2019 

Committee of the Whole Meeting November 11, 2019 

Regular Village Board Meeting November 25, 2019 

 



Dept/Service Agreement # Vendor # Service Provider Expense #
Last 

Proposal
Received

Contract
Expires

Ins Cert
Required

Ins Cert
Expires

Cost-2019 Cost-2020 % Change

Administration
Meeting Videotaping/AV Services M1195 Mike Meranda 01-12-61-4000 2019 Annual No 6,956 7,164 3.0%
Finance
Actuarials Services- OPEB L2775 Lauterbach & Amen **-**-61-4003 11/26/2018 3/30/22 n/a n/a 2,600 850 -67.3%
Annual Audit B0028 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP **-**-61-4003 11/12/2018 11/12/2021 n/a n/a 29,000 29,870 3.0%
Police
Mobile Data Service V1444 Verizon 01-05-61-5515 n/a n/a No NA 7,500 7,500 0.0%
CAD/Records Management Support V1622 Village of Vernon Hills 01-05-61-3005 n/a 9/1/18 No NA 18,600 0 -100.0%
Evidence/Property BEAST Software Support P1136 Porter Lee Corporation 01-05-61-3018 n/a n/a No N/A 1,300 1,500 15.4%
Starcom Airtime & Maintenance M1310 Motorola Starcom 01-05-61-3021 n/a No N/A 19,474 12,240 -37.1%
Tornado Warning Siren Maintenance B1540 Braniff Communications, Inc. 01-05-61-3030 n/a 7/6/05 No N/A 3,150 2,950 -6.3%
Prof Serv- Actuary (GASB 67 & 68) F1420 Foster & Foster 01-05-61-4001 5/29/2015 12/31/2017 No N/A 2,500 2,500 0.0%
Animal Impoundment O1344 Orphans of the Storm 01-05-61-4002 n/a n/a No N/A 1,500 1,500 0.0%
Crime Lab N1322 NE IL Regional Crime Lab 01-05-61-4006 n/a n/a No N/A 13,300 13,112 -1.4%
Squad-Car Video Service W1465 Watchguard 01-05-61-4008 3/1/20 No N/A 5,995 7,370 22.9%
Prosecution Services S1556 LaLuzerne & Smith 01-05-61-4013 n/a n/a No N/A 44,558 45,895 3.0%
Digital Forensics Lab L0018 Lake County State's Attorney 01-05-61-4014 n/a n/a No N/A 1,500 1,500 0.0%
Interview Room Starwitness Camera S1945 Signalscape 01-05-61-4014 2017 n/a No N/A #DIV/0!
T-1 data line LEADS V1622 Village of Vernon Hills 01-05-61-4025 n/a per IGA No N/A 3,432 0 -100.0%
VPN Connection V1622 ABN 01-05-61-4025 n/a n/a No N/A 7,300 1,500 -79.5%
Policy Management System Lexipol 01-05-61-5506 2017 No N/A 9,239 9,516 3.0%
Building Surveillance Camera DVR System I1601 Imperial Surveillance 01-12-80-3005 2016 12/12/21 No N/A 1,308 1,308 0.0%
Dispatch Center Equipment Maintenance V1622 Village of Vernon Hills 17-01-61-3023 n/a 9/1/18 No N/A 6,684 0 -100.0%
Dispatch Services V1622 Village of Deerfield 17-01-61-4029 n/a per IGA No N/A 325,166 334,921 3.0%
Community & Economic Development
Lincolnshire Marketplace IRC CAM I1600 IRC Retail Centers 11-12-61-9140 8/17/2018 Annual No 35,304 36,000 2%
Branding / Style Guide Development E7511 Erin Rice Design 01-08-63-9003 9/26/2019 10/16/19 No 4,950 -100%
Building Inspections & Plan Review B1056 B&F Technical Code Service 01-08-61-4161 2019 Annual Yes Annually N/A N/A N/A
Elevator Inspection E2766 Elevator Inspection Service 01-08-61-0410 11/19/2018 12/31/23 Yes 12/31/23 N/A N/A N/A
Fire Protection Plan Review & Inspections TBD Long Grove Fire Protection District 01-08-61-0410 2019 Annual Yes Annually N/A N/A N/A
Fire Protection Plan Review & Inspections L0875 L-R Fire Protection District 01-08-61-4161 2019 Annual Yes Annually N/A N/A N/A
Structural Plan Review W2605 Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates 01-08-61-4164 2019 Annual Yes Annually N/A N/A N/A

Professional Service Agreements

V:\Shared_Files\Agreements\Agreements\Professional Service Agreements\Master_PSA_LIST.xls



Dept/Service Agreement # Vendor # Service Provider Expense #
Last 

Proposal
Received

Contract
Expires

Ins Cert
Required

Ins Cert
Expires

Cost-2019 Cost-2020 % Change

Professional Service Agreements

Insurance/Common Expenses
General Legal Services A1354 Ancel Glink **-**-61-4013 n/a 84,872 87,418 3%
Employement Legal Services (Pending) Clark, Baird, Smith **-**-61-4013 7/25/2019 N/A N/A N/A
Property / Liability Insurance M1353 MICA (Municipal Insurance Cooperative Agency) **-**-61-8800 12/31/2018 4/30/20 No NA 124,365 128,096 3%
Property / Liability Insurance- Surety Broker M0050 Marsch USA Inc **-**-61-8800 1/1/2019 included above included above #VALUE!
Worker's Compensation Insurance M1353 MICA (Municipal Insurance Cooperative Agency) **-**-61-8801 01/01/2020 04/30/2021 No NA 158,635 157,169 -1%
Cellular Phones V1445 Verizon **-**-61-1002 2011 n/a No NA 31,630 32,490 3%
Copier (color) Maintenance- Admin Coco X0559 Xerox- lease **-**-61-7001 2014 1/31/19 No NA 0 0 #DIV/0!
Copier Maintenance- (high volume): Meme X0559 Xerox **-**-61-7000 2014 3/31/20 No NA 850 -100%
Copier Maintenance- Backup: Nemo X0559 Xerox **-**-61-7000 2013 No NA 735 735 0%
Copier Maintenance- Police (WC5335) X0559 Xerox **-**-61-7000 2013 No NA 1,020 1,020 0%
Copier Maintenance- Front Desk: Dory I0001 Impact Networking, LLC **-**-61-7000 2018 No 1,100 1,100 0%
IT Consulting Services I1300 InterDev LLC **-**-61-9029 1/1/2014 12/31/19 Yes 69,919 72,017 3%
Emergency Notification System B1007 Blackboard Connect **-**-61-9114 2007 annual 6,798 7,002 3%
FLEX Benefits Program Administration P1141 PBA Inc- Professional Benefit Administrators 01-12-61-4004 5/1/2014 2,900 2,900 0%
Newsletter Printing C0115 CL Graphics **-**-61-2006 2003 14,085 14,508 3%
Payroll Processing & HR P1140 Paylocity 01-12-61-9130 1/1/2013 auto-renew 11,100 12,000 8%
Postage Meter Maintenance N1203 Neopost USA Inc 01-12-61-3501 n/a auto-renew n/a NA 420 420 0%
Internet C0478 Comcast **-**-61-5503 annual 5,270 5,428 3%
T-1 Line (Village Hall to PWF) F0478 First Communications **-**-61-5503 2010 3,650 3,759 3%
Telecommunications Services C1012 Call One **-**-61-1000 2010 19,730 20,320 3%
Telephone Maintenance 2204 A0734 Advanced Telecommunications **-**-61-1010 2018 7/11/05 2,105 2,210 5%
Website Maintenance B2781 Basecamp Web Solutions **-**-61-9118 2010 2,000 2,000 0%
BS&A Software Support B2782 BS&A **-**-61-5507 2019 Annual No NA 14,914 15,361 3%

V:\Shared_Files\Agreements\Agreements\Professional Service Agreements\Master_PSA_LIST.xls



Dept/Service Agreement # Vendor # Service Provider Expense #
Last 

Proposal
Received

Contract
Expires

Ins Cert
Required

Ins Cert
Expires

Cost-2019 Cost-2020 % Change

Professional Service Agreements

Public Works
Aquatic Plant Management C1534 Clarke Aquatic Services 01-25-61-9051 2015 auto-renew Yes 11/1/17 8,347.21$        9,701.00$        3.0%
Car Wash Services P1449 Peacock Mobil 12-01-61-9005 2018 annual Yes 11/1/17 270.00$           270.00$           3.0%
Civil Engineering Services G1107 Gewalt Hamilton Associates 01-20-61-4018 2015 annual Yes 9/10/17 5,782.50$        5,971.00$        3.0%
Construction Materials Testing S1044 CGMT 01-20-61-40xx 2016 Prof Serv Yes 9/4/18 4,637.00$        4,776.00$        3.0%
Coffee Maker First Choice Coffee 01-12-62-1000 2011 annual no 2/10/11 2,569.00$        2,569.00$        
Custodial Service - VH, PW, Spring Lk Park B2712 Eco-Clean mulit-accts 2018 7/13/05 Yes 12/31/21 35,820.00$      35,820.00$      0.0%
Des Plaines River Gauge L1127 Lake County SMC 01-20-61-9000 2014 IGA No NA 3,600.00$        3,708.00$        3.0%
Elevator  Maintenance - Village Hall O0010 Otis Elevator Company 01-25-61-9023 2017 3-year terms Yes 4/1/18 1,860.00$        1,860.00$        3.0%
Emerald Ash Borer Treatment T1137 Trees R Us 01-22-61-9081 2015 7/10/05 Yes 12/31/18 1,823.00$        1,823.00$        3.0%
Pest Control Services Aerex Pest Control 01-22-61-9082 2019 annual yes 12/31/18 1,320.00$        1,320.00$        0.0%
Backup Exec License Concentric Integration LLn 02-02-61-9106 2019 annual 4,989.96$        498.00$           3.0%
Fire Protection Services - extinguishers, panels, sprinklers C1432 Allegiant Fire Protection 01-25-61-9019 2019 auto-renew Yes 7/1/18 2,700.00$        2,700.00$        3.0%
Fire Protection Transmitters I2013 Inner Security Systems 01-25-61-9019 2012 auto-renew No 7/1/17 4,451.61$        2,800.00$        3.0%
Fireworks Display J1725 Johnny Rockets 01-22-61-9215 2016 7/12/05 Yes 10/29/18 23,185.00$      30,000.00$      3.0%
Floor Mat Cleaning-Vhall & PWF D1442 Dustcatcher and A-Logo Mat 01-25-61-9047 2014 annual No 11/30/17 1,581.00$        1,628.69$        3.0%
Generator Maintenance - Village Hall/PWF & Utilities P1409 Altorfer 02-02-61-9101 2019 7/12/05 Yes 9/12/20 12,260.00$      12,260.00$      3.2%
Geographic Information Services M1350 Municipal GIS Partners XX-XX-61-9022 2015 annual Yes 4/1/18 72,600.00$      74,676.00$      14.3%
GIS Software E1844 ESRI XX-XX-61-9022 2016 annual No N/A 1,600.00$        2,850.00$        3.3%
Hazardous Tree Removal R0013 Robt Kinnucan Tree Experts 01-22-61-9089 2017 7/12/05 Yes 1/1/20 112,550.88$     115,927.00$     3.0%
HVAC Maintenance - Village Hall & Public Works Facility H1631 Oakbrook Mechanical Services, Inc. 01-25-61-9023 2018 7/13/05 Yes 12/31/21 10,307.00$      10,307.00$      2.0%
Natural Areas Maintenance T1285 Native Restoration Services 01-22-61-9080 2018 7/12/05 Yes 1/10/19 50,000.00$      51,500.00$      0.0%
Irrigation Systems Maintenance M1277 Mullermist 01-22-61-9041 2016 7/11/05 Yes 4/15/18 6,255.00$        9,295.00$        0.0%
Landscape Maintenance & Parks Mowing G1467 Green Acres Landscaping, Inc. multi-accts 2017 7/12/05 Yes 12/1/17 170,783.00$     170,783.00$     3.0%
Large Water Meter Testing H1033 HBK 02-02-61-9030 2016 annual No 11/12/18 3,594.00$        3,702.00$        3.0%
Lift Station Preventative Maintenance (Londonderry) X1195 Xylem TotalCare 02-02-61-9103 2019 annual No N/A 2,115.00$        2,115.00$        3.0%
Leaf Disposal R1621 The Mulch Center 01-21-61-9006 2019 7/13/05 No 12/31/19 31,595.00$      36,241.00$      0.0%
Meter Read Center and Trimble Maintenance M1075 Midwest Meters 02-02-61-9110 2014 annual No N/A 2,736.00$        2,818.00$        #VALUE!
Mosquito Management C0176 Clarke Environmental 01-21-61-9036 2012 auto-renew Yes 11/1/17 75,976.00$      75,976.00$      0.0%
North Park Lighting Controls M1029 MUSCO Lighting 01-22-61-9073 2013 annual No N/A 3,512.00$        3,512.00$        65.3%
Overhead Door Maintenance D0634 Door Systems, Inc. 01-25-61-9047 2014 7/11/05 Yes 12/31/19 2,627.00$        2,627.00$        0.0%
Payment Processing Services (Lockbox) F1150 First Midwest Bank 02-01-61-9001 2017 auto-renew No N/A 3.0%
ROW Tree Pruning Nels Johnson Tree Expers 01-22-61-9056 11/10/2019 11/10/21 Yes 2/23/19 75/hr & 20/hr 70/hr & 20/hr
Rock Salt TBD - Out-to-Bid 01-21-62-4002 10/15/2017 5,427.00$        TBA 3.0%
SCADA System Maintenance (Software & Service) B0145 Baxter Woodman 02-02-61-9106 N/A annual No 1/1/18 15,030.00$      3,533.00$        3.0%
Street Sweeping W0803 TKG Environmental Service Group 01-21-61-9064 2018 7/12/05 Yes 11/1/17 55,210.00$      15,030.00$      21.0%
Tree Acquisition and Planting S1074 St. Aubin Nursery & Landscaping 01-22-61-9088 2017 7/12/05 Yes 11/22/16 5,706.00$        55,790.00$      1.1%
Turf Fertilizer/Weed Management T1137 TruGreen 01-22-61-9017 2017 7/11/05 Yes 1/1/18 4,857.00$        out to bid -89.2%
Uniform Rental and Cleaning L2075 CINTAS mulit-accts 2018 7/13/05 Yes 12/31/20 3,150.00$        4,857.00$        -25.9%
Valve Inspections Dorner 02-02-61-9108 2018 no 12,502.00$      3,150.00$        
Valve Turning Program S1477 ME Simpson 02-02-61-9117 2016 annual Yes 12/23/17 1,500.00$        12,768.00$      #DIV/0!
Vehicle Maintenance Software D1057 Motor All Data 12-01-63-4000 2013 annual No NA 1,183.00$        1,500.00$        0.0%
Vehicle Maintenance Software S1732 Snap-On 12-01-63-4000 2015 annual No NA 1,183.00$        3.0%
Water Meters HBK 02-02-62-3600 2019 annual no NA 180/man hr $180/man hr
Wastehauler/Leaf Pick-Up Services No cost Waste Management Franchise Services 2016 7/13/05 Yes 7/1/18 Franchise Franchise #VALUE!
SSA Sedgebrook
Paying Agent Fees U1133 US Bank 20-01-61-4000 9/27/2004 no term No NA 2,652 2,652 #DIV/0!
Administrative Charges M1420 Municap 20-01-61-4000 3/22/2019 no term No NA 3,390 6,000 0.0%

V:\Shared_Files\Agreements\Agreements\Professional Service Agreements\Master_PSA_LIST.xls


	1.0 Agenda
	3.31_2019_10_Revenue_and_Expense_Summary
	2019 R&E w BSA.xlsx
	2019 R&E w BSA.xlsx

	4.1_2019_11_25_Bills
	Prelist_APBankTrf.xlsx
	CustomInvoiceReport

	7.1 11-11-2019 RVB Minutes
	7.2 11-11-2019 COW Minutes
	7.5_2019_11_25_RVB_BulkRegulations_TextAmendment_FARandSquareFootage
	2019_11_25_RVB_Zoning_Bulk_Regulations.pdf
	7.5_2019_11_25_RVB_BulkRegulations_TextAmendment_FARandSquareFootage
	19_XXXX_XXX_ZoningCodeAmendments_BulkRegulations_FARandSquareFootage
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
	LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

	2019_11_25_RVB_Bulk_Regulations_Findings_of_Fact
	19_XXXX_XXX_ZoningCodeAmendments_BulkRegulations_FARandSquareFootage
	code0605a_REDLINED_2019_11_18
	code0605b_REDLINED_2019_11_18


	7.7_2019_11_25_RVB_Professional_Service_Agreements
	2019_11_25_RVB_Professional_Service_Agreements.pdf
	2019_11_25_RVB_Professional_Service_Agreements


	Return to Agenda: 


